MANGO MODULATES BODY FAT AND PLASMA GLUCOSE AND LIPIDS IN MICE FED HIGH FAT DIET

By

WENJIA LI

Bachelor of Science in Biological Science

University of Guelph

Guelph, Ontario

2006

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE December 2009

MANGO MODULATES BODY FAT AND PLASMA GLUCOSE AND LIPIDS IN MICE FED HIGH FAT DIET

Thesis Approved:

Dr. Edralin A. Lucas

Thesis Adviser

Dr. Brenda J. Smith

Dr. Stephen L. Clarke

Dr. A. Gordon Emslie

Dean of the Graduate College

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Introduction	1
Hypothesis	4
Limitations	4

II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Obesity and its associated diseases	6
Diabetes mellitus (DM)	10
Perxisome proliferator activated receptors (PPAR) and their physiologic	cal roles
	16
PPAR agonists- Fenofibrate and Rosiglitazone	20
Health benefits of mango	25
Mango flesh or pulp	25
Mango peel	29
Mango kernel or seed	
Mango stem bark extract	
-	

III. METHODLOGY

Animal care and dietary treatments	41
Glucose tolerance test	42
Necropsy and tissue processing	42
Clinical analyses	42
Plasma leptin, adiponecting and insulin	44

	RNA isolation Gene expression by real-time PCR	45 46
	Statistical analyses	47
IV.	FINDINGS	51
	Food intake, body and tissue weights	51
	Whole body composition	52
	Glucose tolerance test	52
	Clinical chemistry parameters	52
	Plasma leptin, adiponecting and insulin	53
	Gene expression by real-time PCR	54
V.	CONCLUSION	75

REFERENCES	
APPENDIX	

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1.	Typical nutrient composition of mango pulp26
2.	The pulp compositin in four mango cultivars27
3.	Nutrient composition of freeze-dried Tommy mango used in the study48
4.	Composition of the experimental diets49
5.	Primers used for real-time PCR
6.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on food intake and body and tissue weights of mice fed high fat diet for two months
7.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on weekly body weights of mice fed high fat diet for two months
8.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on lean and fat mass of mice fed high fat diet for two months
9.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on blood glucose during a glucose tolerance test of mice fed high fat diet for two months
10.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone and fenofibrate on plasma triglycerides, HDL- cholesterol, and insulin concentrations of mice fed high fat diet for two months
11.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on gene expression (relative mRNA) in white adipose tissue and skeletal muscle of mice fed high fat diet for two months

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1.	Six domains of PPAR protein17
2.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on % body fat of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months
3.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on glucose area under the curve after a glucose tolerance test of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months
4.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone and fenofibrate on plasma glucose level of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months
5.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on plasma total cholesterol (TC) concentrations of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months
6.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on plasma non-esterified fatty acid (NEFA) concentrations of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months
7.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on plasma leptin concentrations of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months
8.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on plasma adiponectin concentrations of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months
9.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on relative mRNA of acetyl-CoA carboxylase alpha (ACC α) in the liver of mice fed high fat diet (HF) for two months
10.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on relative mRNA of acyl- coenzyme A oxidase 1 (ACOX1) in the liver of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months
11.	Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on relative mRNA of medium- chain acyl dehydrogenase (MCAD) in the liver of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Obesity has become a major health issue in the United States and the prevalence has doubled in the past 30 years [1]. Parallel to the increase in obesity is a rise in obesity-related chronic diseases such as cardiovascular disease (CVD) and diabetes. CVD continues to be the leading cause of death in the United States and diabetes and obesity are major risk factors of CVD. In 2006, approximately 36.3% of the population in the United States had at least one form of CVD and 33.9% of the population had a body mass index (BMI) over 30 kg/m² [2]. The death rate of CVD was 35.3% in 2005 which means 1 out of 3 patients died of CVD [2]. The health cost associated with CVD was estimated to be \$475.3 billion in 2008 [2]. The 2006 prevalence of physician-diagnosed prediabetes and diabetes was about 36.5% of the adult population [2]. The total medical cost for diabetes was \$174 billion in 2007 [3].

Consumption of a high fat diet and elevated blood glucose and lipids are known contributors to the development of diabetes and CVD [4]. Pharmacological, dietary, and lifestyle modifications such as regular physical activity are ways that can improve blood glucose and lipids. For patients with severe diabetes or hyperlipidemia, medications may be necessary to control the progression of these disorders.

Some of the pharmacological agents used to reduce blood glucose concentration include α -glucosidase inhibitors (e.g. acarbose-precose), biguanide (e.g. metformin), thiazolidinediones (TZDs) (e.g. rosiglitazone), insulin analogs, meglitinides, and dphenylalanine derivatives [5]. Most of these medications mimic the function of insulin to treat patients with hyperglycemia [5]. Specifically, α -glucosidase inhibitors reduce the absorption of carbohydrates in the small intestine, preventing the elevation of blood [6]. Biguanide, an insulin-sensitizer, increases the uptake of glucose in peripheral tissues and inhibits hepatic gluconeogenesis [6]. Meglitinides and d-phenylalanine enhances insulin secretion while TZDs are similar to biguanide and functions as insulin sensitizers [6]. TZDs are agonists of peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) -γ which upregulates the transcription of genes involved in adipocyte differentiation and production of adipokines such as adiponectin and leptin [6]. TZDs have been shown to effectively decrease plasma glucose and lipid concentrations in insulin-resistant patients [6]. Rosiglitazone is a widely used TZD and a known PPAR- γ agonist commonly used by patients with type 2 diabetes [7]. Although rosiglitazone modulates blood glucose concentrations, it is associated with side effects such as weight gain, anemia, osteoporosis and fluid rentention [8-9].

Peroxisome proliferator activated-receptors (PPARs) are a family nuclear receptor proteins that regulate the expression of genes involved in cellular differentiation and macronutrients metabolism, such as glucose and lipids [10]. PPARs initiate the transcription of genes involved in energy homeostasis and are also key factors in regulating many age-associated pathophysiological diseases related to oxidative stress and inflammatory reaction [10-11]. PPARs can be divided into three subtypes: PPAR-γ,

PPAR-α, and PPAR- β/δ . PPAR- γ is primarily expressed in adipose tissue and is involved in the production of adipocytes and their function [12]. The activation of PPAR- γ improves insulin sensitivity in insulin-sensitive tissues such as the liver and adipose by up-regulating glucose disposal in peripheral tissues and down-regulating glucose production respectively [12]. PPAR- α is crucial for lipid metabolism including β oxidation, ketogenesis, fatty acid synthesis and lipoprotein metabolism [13]. Fenofibrate is known as a PPAR- α agonist and it has been used to lower cholesterol [14]. The use of fenofibrate is often associated with side effects including skin problems (yellow skin), gastrointestinal effects, muscle pain, and sweating or dizziness [15]. Rhabdomyolysis, a rapid lysis of skeletal muscle tissue due to tissue injury, is also seen often in elderly patients using fenofibrate [16].

Because of the side effects associated with rosiglitazone and fenofibrate, other options are being explored for lowering blood glucose and cholesterol concentrations. Natural food products containing bioactive compounds are continuously being investigated for their potential in reducing chronic conditions such as obesity and diabetes [17-18]. Fruits and vegetables containing phytochemicals have been investigated for their health promoting properties and examples are carrot, dark green leafy vegetables, and apple, bluberry, and mango [19-21]. Mango is a rich source of many bioactive compounds [22]. It is a tropical fruit containing various bioactive components such as polyphenols, carotenoids, and vitamins E and C [23]. A recent study demonstrated that an aqueous extract of mango stem exhibited anti-inflammatory effects by reducing the expression of inflammation-related genes in murine macrophages [24]. Ojewole [25] demonstrated that mango extract effectively lowered blood glucose in

mouse model. The antioxidant and anti-cancer effects of mango juice had been demonstrated by inhibiting free radical production and neoplastic transformation in mammalian cell lines [26]. However, to our knowledge, there are few studies exploring the effect of mango on body composition and glucose and lipid parameters in dietinduced obesity. Therefore, we *hypothesize* that mango contains bioactive compounds that can act as PPAR- α and PPAR- γ agonists resulting in modulation of body fat, and plasma glucose and lipid parameters in mice fed high fat diet which aims to induce obesity.

The *specific aims* of the study are:

1. To compare the effects of two doses of freeze-dried mango with known PPAR agonists (rosiglitazone and fenofibrate, PPAR- γ and PPAR- α agonist, respectively) in modulating body composition in mice fed high fat diet.

2. To compare the effects of two doses of freeze-dried mango with rosiglitazone and fenofibrate in decreasing the elevation of blood glucose concentrations in mice fed high fat diet.

3. To compare the effects of two doses of freeze-dried mango with rosiglitazone and fenofibrate in reducing blood lipid concentrations in mice fed high fat diet.

4. To begin to explore the mechanism through which mango exerts positive effects on body composition and blood glucose and lipids. Expression of genes involved in glucose and lipid homeostasis will be examined in the liver, white adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle using quantitative Real Time-PCR.

Limitations

There are several *limitations* to our study: (1) only a single variety of mango (Tommy/Atkins) was tested and our findings may not represent all mango varieties. It has been shown that varietal differences occur in terms of nutrient and phenolic content [27]; (2) freeze-dried mango was used in the study but fresh mango may have different properties; (3) the dose of freeze-dried mango was based on earlier animal studies using dried fruit such as dried plum, blueberries, or apple for lowering blood cholesterol concentrations [28-30]. The doses (this is not a dose-seeking study), particularly the 10% mango that we used, might not be a reasonable amount for humans. However, our study demonstrated that the 1% dose, a very reasonable dose for humans, is effective in modulating body composition and blood glucose and lipid concentrations in this animal model; (4) the dose and mode of administration of rosiglitazone (50 mg/kg diet) and fenofibrate (500 mg/kg diet) used in the study may not be the most effective in modulating body composition and blood glucose and lipids in this animal model. The dose and mode of administration of rosiglitazone and fenofibrate was based on the findings of Chao et al [31] and Guerre-Millo et al [32], respectively; (5) Because of the use of an animal model, our findings need to be confirmed in humans. A clinical study should be conducted to determine whether the positive results we have observed in this study will translate to the same positive effects in humans.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Obesity and its associated diseases

Obesity has become one of the most severe epidemics in western societies. The percentage of obese population has doubled in the last decade and the prevalence continues to increase. In the US, the estimated number of overweight or obese adults (age 20 and older) reached 145,000,000 in 2006, representing 66.7% of the adult population [2]. The annual medical cost associated with obesity was \$117 billion in 2001, accounting for over 9.1% of the U.S. health expenditure [2]. Overweight and obesity are caused by many factors such as increased caloric dietary intake, consumption of high fat diet foods, lack of physical activity, and heredity. The increased prevalence of obesity has given rise to many comorbid conditions such as diabetes mellitus, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, hypertension, and atherosclerosis [33].

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines overweight or obesity as "abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that presents a risk to health" [34]. The different stages of overweight or obesity are classified by body mass index (BMI), defined as weight (in kilograms) divided by the square of the height (in meters) (BMI=weight/height²) [34]. The categories of BMI were initially derived from lifeexpectancy data collected from insurance companies, and the cut-offs match risks for obesity-related morbidities [35]. BMI equal to or greater than 30 kg/m² is defined as "grade 2 obesity" while a BMI of > 25 kg/m² is denoted as "overweight" or "grade 1 obesity". The ideal BMI is between 18.5 and 25 kg/m². In general when a person's BMI is greater than 25 kg/m², he or she is considered overweight [36].

Studies in the past decade have investigated the regulation of obesity and appetite which influences energy homeostasis [37-38]. In general, an abundance of adipose tissue in the body is necessary for survival under critical conditions such as starvation [39]. However, the continuation of excess energy intake when energy expenditure remains stable results in excessive fat storage [40-41]. Obesity can negatively modulate both lipid and glucose metabolism [42-43]. Obesity has been determined to play a key in the regulation of insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes [44].

Adipose tissue is no longer considered only as a site for fat storage but also functions as an endocrine organ [45]. Adipocytes are responsible for secretion of adipokines which contribute to hypertension and dyslipidemia [45]. During insulin resistance, there was an increased adiposity and glucose intolerance seen in mice [46]. Recent studies have also shown that adipose tissue has the ability to secrete proinflammatory molecules such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and C-reactive protein-1 (CRP-1) [45]. Adipose tissue also secretes many kinds of adipocytokines, such as leptin and adiponectin [47]. Leptin is important in regulating energy balance because it inhibits dietary intake and facilitates energy expenditure [47]. Adiponectin has an inverse relationship with obesity and has been shown to increase insulin sensitivity [47].

Free fatty acids, derived from excessive stored triacylglycerol, play an important role in dyslipidemia and may promote the development hypertriglyceridemia by inhibiting lipogenesis and oxidative stress [33]. In obese subjects, excessive amounts of fat stimulate the release of free fatty acids and promote lipotoxicity inducing oxidative stress [33]. Oxidative stress is produced from lipids and their metabolites, which are not found only in adipose tissue but also in non-adipose tissue such as the liver and pancreas [48-49].

Excess free fatty acids are also associated with insulin-receptor dysfunction leading to insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, and increased hepatic gluconeogenesis. Free fatty acids also inhibit the use of glucose in insulin-stimulated muscle tissue which further exacerbates hyperglycemia [50-51]. Elevated free fatty acids also affect the function of pancreatic β -cell resulting in decreased insulin secretion [52].

Obesity is highly associated with, or is a primary contributing factor to, some of the more severe metabolic diseases. Reducing obesity and overweight have been shown to reduce the total risk and mortality of patients with coronary heart disease [53]. Obesity also has a direct connection with sub-clinical inflammation which is involved in the pathogenesis of many chronic diseases including type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease [54].

Treatment of obesity can be generally divided into three categories: lifestyle modifications, medications, or surgical. Lifestyle modifications include changing dietary habits and increasing physical activity. It is well-established that, consuming less calories and increasing energy expenditure is the key to weight loss [55]. Many weight loss diets are aimed at decreasing calorie intake, therefore preventing weight gain. Examples of

weight loss diets include the Mediterranean diet, low-carbohydrate diet, and low-fat diet. The Mediterranean diet is morden nutritional recommended-diet with moderate amounts of fat and is rich in vegetables and limited in red meat [56]. A low-carbohydrate diet, defined as diet programs that restrict cabohydrate intake for purposes of weight loss or treatment of obesity, does not have a strict calorie requirement while low-fat diet is similar to the Mediterranean diet but with lower fat consumption [56]. Engaging in regular physical activity is another aspect of lifestyle modification which increases energy expenditure.

The next treatment of obesity is medications. Weight loss drugs are also being widely used to reduce or prevent overweight and obesity [57]. Sibutramine and Orlistat are two examples of effective weight loss drugs. Sibutramine, in combination with a low-calorie diet, regulates the appetite center which is located in the hypothalamus of the brain causing a reduction in demand for food [58]. Some side effects of sibutramine include back pain, constipation, dry mouth, flu-like symptoms, headache, and nausea [59-60]. Another weight loss medication is Orlistat which blocks the digestion and absorption of dietary fats [61]. Major side effects of orlistat are diarrhea, abdominal pain, hypertension, depression, headache and diabetic ketoacidosis [62].

Bariatric surgery is performed in cases of severe obesity. The major types of bariatric surgery performed are: Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and gastric banding [63]. In Roux-en-Y gastric banding [64], the stomach is dissected into a small pouch with the proximal portion attached to the proximal jejunum, while the distal section of the stomach pouch and a small portion of the jejunum are connected to the distal jejunum. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass restricts food intake and limits nutrient absorption. Gastric

banding is a pure restrictive surgical treatment that divides the stomach into smaller and larger portions by use of prosthetic band. The position of the band in gastric banding can be adjusted to change the volume of proximal pouch [65]. The acute side effects of bariatric surgeries are hemorrhage, obstruction, infection, arrhythmias, and pulmonary emboli. Long-term adverse effects are rhabdomyolysis, neuropathies, internal hernias, and emotional disorders [66].

Due to the side effects of exisiting therapies, the use of nutritional interventions is being widely explored for the treatment of obesity [67].

Diabetes mellitus (DM)

Prevelance

In 2006, there were approximately 57 million adults (25.9%) total in the US diagnosed with prediabetes, which is defined as a condition that occurs when the blood glucose levels are higher than the normal but not high enough to be diagnosed as diabetes [2]. Additionally, 7.7% (approximately 17 million) adults were diagnosed with diabetes in 2006. Type 2 diabetes accounted for 90-95% of the diagnosed diabetes [2]. The mortality due to diabetes in 2005 was about 75,119 and at least 65% of the people with diabetes died of some type of heart disease [2]. Diabetes mellitus is a chronic disease distinguished by abnormally elevated glucose level (hyperglycemia) as a result of insulin resistance. The chronic situation of diabetes can cause lasting dysfunction and failure of various organs, such as the eyes, kidneys, heart, and nerves [68].

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)

T2DM is a chronic disease characterized by impaired insulin resistance and insulin

secretion [69]. T2DM occurs when pancreatic β -cells does not produce enough insulin or the body ignores insulin [70]. The impairment of insulin secretion then weakens the insulin response of the body to glucose [70]. Both genetics and environmental factors can affect development of T2DM [71].

Genetics influence important transcription factors such as hepatocyte nuclear factor and insulin promoter factor-1 which control the development and function of the β -cells of the pancreas [72]. About 70-85% of T1DM patients inherit the disease from their parents and the polygenic inheritance associates with environmental factors to develop diabetes [73]. Environmental factors, also known as acquired factors, such as lifestyle, body weight, physical activity, hypertension, dyslipidemia and smoking also play a major role in the development diabetes [71].

Insulin secretion can be influenced by several nutrients such as glucose, some amino acids, and free fatty acids [74-75]. Hormones also affect the secretion of insulin from the pancreas. One of the stimulatory hormones is glucagon-like polypeptide-1, which is a candidate therapeutic agent for T2DM [76]. An example of the inhibitory hormones is somatostatin. Somatostatin is a peptide hormone that inhibits the release of numerous secondary hormones, including insulin [77]. Proinsulin is the precursor of insulin produced from pancreatic β -cells and cleaved into insulin and C-peptide before departing from the β -cells [78]. Even though proinsulin is the precursor of insulin, elevation of proinsulin has been observed in T2DM [78] and may be indicate of insulin resistance [70].

Insulin resistance is defined as "diminished tissue response to insulin at one or more sites in the complex pathways of hormone actio, and is usually heralded by higher

than normal plasma insulin levels, a phenomenon known as compensatory hyperinsulinaemia" [79]. In insulin resistance, plasma insulin levels may remain normal or even elevated but is insufficient to overcome hyperglycemia [73]. Hence, hyperinsulinemia is usually considered as an early stage insulin-resistant marker [80]. Several abnormalities in insulin signaling system may relate to insulin resistance, such as reduced insulin receptor expression and tyrosine kinase activity, which regulates signal transduction for regulating of enzyme activity [81]. The impaired signaling system is a possible explanation for decrease glucose uptake and metabolism in the liver, skeletal muscle, and adipocytes [80, 82-84].

In the liver, insulin is responsible for the inhibition of hepatic glucose formation during postprandial state [85]. When a tissue becomes insulin resistant, both fasting and postprandial glucose production increases, eventually leading to T2DM. Insulin resistance is recognized by a reduction in glucokinase activity and a marked elevation of conversion of substrates to glucose regardless of the presence of insulin [86]. Therefore, glucose is over-produced and under-utilized in diabetics. The increase in free circulating fatty acids seen in type 2 diabetics may be associated with increased hepatic glucose formation since non-esterified fatty acids was found to deteriorate glucose tolenrance in Caucasians [87]. Skeletal muscle also plays an important role in glucose metabolism. The role of the skeletal muscle in glucose homeostasis is as important as in the liver because of the large amount of glucose utilized in the skeletal muscle [84].

GLUT4 is the major glucose transporter present in adipose tissue and skeletal muscle and it is stimulated by insulin [88-89]. In the presence of insulin, GLUT4 is translocated to the cell membrane facilitates glucose uptake. The uptake of glucose from

circulation into peripheral tissues is important in glucose homeostasis since it removes glucose from circulation and then decreases blood glucose level. Defective insulininduced GLUT4 translocation is often seen in T2DM and may contribute to hyerglycemia [90-91].

Most type 2 diabetics are overweight or obese [68]. A study showed that visceral fat plays a negative role in insulin-resistant patients, and progress of metabolic syndrome was observed after surgical removal of visceral fat [92]. Goodpaster and colleagues [93] demonstrated that losing an appropriate amount of weight by calorie restriction increases insulin sensitivity and reduces total adiposity, and weight loss after one year did improve insulin sensitivity in type 2 dibetics [94].

Prevention and treatment

There are several ways to prevent or delay the development of T2DM. Restricting calorie intake, increasing physical activities and limiting alcohol consumption are ways to prevent or delay the development of T2DM [95]. Once T2DM has developed, treatment options include taking natural products and pharmacological therapy [95].

Calorie restriction, defined as minimized energy intake, but sufficient intake of vitamins, minerals and other important nutrient, also prevents or delays the development of T2DM. Several studies have shown that weight loss can improve insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle [93, 96-97]. It is also suggested that the surgical removal of visceral fat improved insulin sensitivity in hepatocytes in rodents [98]. As little as a 7% weight loss, type 2 diabetics improved insulin sensitivity by approximately 60% [99]. In other words, weight loss induced by calorie restriction prevents T2DM by promoting insulin sensitivity.

Another lifestyle factor that could improve insulin sensitivity is physical activity. Physical activity or exercise is not necessarily accompanied by weight loss; however, improvement in insulin sensitivity was still observed [100]. Possible explanations of improvement of insulin sensitivity are that GLUT4 is elevated during physical activity [101] and an increase in glycogen formation [102]. A weight loss associated physical activity study demonstrated that obesity and insulin resistance were reduced in men who performed exercise and on calorie restriction [97].

Lifestyle modifications may prevent or delay T2DM. These can be effective treatment options. Alcohol consumption is not recommended for type 2 diabetic patients because alcohol has been shown to be related with impaired glucose tolerance [103-106]. A recent study showed a decreased risk of T2DM in elderly women with low intake of alcohol [105]. Furthermore, very low to moderate amount of alcohol consumption has been shown to lower insulin resistance [107]; however the underlying mechanism remains unknown.

Many studies have shown that ~ 1 in 3 adults with T2DM use therapies such as acupuncture, chiropractic care, yoga, and herbal remedies to prevent and/or treat type 2 DM [108-110]. In addition to these interventions, consumption of supplements such as chromium, garlic, ginseng and various herbal or botanical supplements, are other ways of preventing and/or treating T2DM [111]. Taking these supplements for the prevention and/or treatment of diabetes remains controversial. For example, the ability of chromium supplements to improve insulin sensitivity yields conflicting results and needs to be further examined [112]. Various therapies and consumption of supplements are being widely used; however pharmacological therapy is more concerned in clinical treatment of

T2DM.

Pharmacological therapy provides by far the most effective option in the treatment of T2DM. Metformin is an anti-diabetic drug that has been widely used to treat T2DM, particularly in overweight or obese diabetics [113]. Type 2 diabetics have a higher rate of glucose production than non-diabetics and metformin can effectively lower this rate by over 30% [114]. Metformin reduces glucose production by inhibiting hepatic gluconeogenesis [115]. Physiologically, metformin activates AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) which suppresses gluconeogenesis in the liver [116]. A recent study illustrated that activated AMPK could promote the expression of small heterodimer partner (SHP), a transcriptional factor that inhibits the activity of two enzymes (glucose-6-phosphatase and fructose 1, 6-bisphosphatase) in the hepatic gluconeogenesis [117]. Other mechanisms by which metformin enhance insulin sensitivity includes increasing glucose uptake and promoting β -oxidation is rodent skeletal muscle [118].

Thiazolidines (TZDs), such as pioglitazone and rosiglitazone, are group of medications that have been commonly used in T2DM. TZDs activate PPAR-γ, resulting in the transcription of insulin-sensitive genes (examples are GLUT4 and aP2) involved in lipid and glucose metabolism in the liver, adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle [119-120]. Pioglitazone improves fasting plasma glucose and HbA_{1c}, and increases insulin sensitivity and plasma adiponectin in T2DM subjects [121]. Pioglitazone decreases insulin resistance in the liver and peripheral tissues which can promote glucose uptake. However, heart failure is a major side effect associated with the use of TZDs [122].The role of rosiglitazone in reducing glucose will be discussed in a later section.

Pramlintide is an analog of human amylin, a pancreatic islet cell hormone released

from β -cells along with insulin [123]. Administration of pramlintide in type 2 diabetics significantly improved postprandial hyperglycemia [123-125]. Additionally, pramlintide is reported to exhibit a weight loss property [126] possibly thru delaying gastric emptying [127]. Similar to amylin, pramlintide enhances insulin sensitivity by regulating glucose metabolism thru modulating postpradial glucose levels [123], inhibiting glucagon secretion [128], and delaying gastric emptying [129].

Exenatide acts as a potent agonist of glucagon-like peptide-1. Exenatide enhances β -cell proliferation in rodents but this proliferation is not exhibited in humans [130]. Similar to glucagon-like peptide-1, exenatide enchances glucose-dependent insulin secretion by the pancreatic β -cells, inhibits glucagon secretion and decreases the both rate of gastric emptying and food intake, although the mechanism of action is still under investigation [131-133]. A two-year clinical study showed exenatide to significantly reduce plasma HbA1c by 1% and promote weight loss [124].

Peroxisome proliferator activated receptors (PPARs) and their physiological roles

Peroxisome proliferator activated receptors (PPARs) belong to the super family of steroid nuclear receptor of transcription factors that modulate ligand-dependent activation and suppression of genes [134]. The binding of PPARs to specific peroxisome proliferator response elements (PPREs) allows them to mediate transcription for genes involved in lipid and glucose metabolism [135]. This property of PPARs gives them potential therapeutic applications as a treatment for lipid and glucose associated metabolic syndrome.

Structurally, PPAR proteins contain six domains: A/B, C, D, E and F domains. The

A/B domain is considered the activation site for transcription. The C domain is where DNA binds to the location of zinc finger. The D domain is referred to as the DNA sequence recognition site, and E and F domains are the sites for ligand binding [136]. The DNA-binding domain primarily recognizes and binds to specific response element [42]. PPARs form heterodimers with attachment of retinoic acid X receptor (RXR) and binds to PPREs in target genes [137]. Once PPARs have been activated by ligand, they are ready to bind to specific promoting regions that stimulate the transcription of RNA polymerase of target genes [137].

Figure 1. Six domains of PPAR protein [134]:



Three types of PPARs that have been identified: PPAR- α , PPAR- β/δ , and PPAR- γ [138]. PPAR- α is most abundantly expressed in the liver, brown adipose tissue, kidney, heart and skeletal muscle; PPAR β/δ is expressed in the intestine, adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, heart and brain and PPAR- γ is expressed in adipose tissue and the intestine [137-138]. The ligands for PPARs are divided by their target proteins, for example PPAR- α ligands can be divided into natural and synthetic groups [139]. Natural ligands for PPAR- α a include fatty acids and eicosanoids while synthetic ligands for PPAR- α are fibrates such as fenofibrate and bezafibrate, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medications, such as prostaglandins. Natural ligands of PPAR- γ are fatty acid derivatives such as arachidonic acid metabolites [140]. Synthetic ligands of PPAR- γ are TZDs and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory chemicals, such as indomethacin and ibuprofen [141]. Prostacylin, a natural compound produced by vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells when stimulated by cytokines, is a ligand of PPAR- β/δ [142].

Transcription initiated by PPARs is responsible for the synthesis of proteins that are involved in various biological pathways [143]. PPAR- α spares glucose during the fasting state and promotes fatty acid oxidation and ketone body formation. PPAR- γ regulates lipid storage and glucose utilization in a fed state [12]. PPAR- β/δ is a regulator that enhances fatty acid catabolism in skeletal muscle [144]. The anti-inflammatory effects of PPAR- α and PPAR- γ are well established based on *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies [145]. For example, PPAR- α and PPAR- γ agonists appear to delay the initiation phase of the inflammatory process in paw edema model of inflammation [146]. Because the focus of our study is on PPAR- α and - γ , hence, PPAR- β/δ will not be discussed further.

PPAR-α is a direct regulator of genes that function in fatty acid uptake and oxidation in the liver [147]. PPAR-α null mice become dyslipidemic because peroxisomal and mitochondrial fatty acid metabolizing enzymes cannot metabolize longchain fatty acids [148-149]. Interestingly PPAR-α null mice do not develop high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance, but show signs of fat accumulation [150].

PPAR- γ ligands have been used to increase insulin sensitivity in T2DM [134]. The most common PPAR- γ ligands are the TZDs which include troglitazone, pioglitazone, and rosiglitazone [151]. Genes that are regulated by PPAR- γ are involved in maintaining lipid and glucose homeostasis [134]. PPAR- γ regulates glucose homeostasis by modulating hormones secreted from adipocytes [143, 152]. Thus, PPAR- γ is an insulin sensitizing factor and regulates of the expression of adipokines, such as increasing adiponectin and decreasing leptin, resistin, and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) [152].

More specifically, PPAR- γ target genes are effective in adipocyte hormones and influencing the release of free fatty acid from adipocytes.

Insulin signaling is suppressed by elevation of free fatty acids in the skeletal muscle and liver, thus insulin resistance might also be a consequence of free fatty acid metabolism. The differentiation of preadipocytes into adipocytes requires PPAR- γ as a transcriptional factor. Treatment with TZDs causes a decline in abdominal fat and an increase in subcutaneous fat in diabetic patients [151]. The insulin sensitizing property of PPAR- γ is believed to be achieved thru the activation of fatty acid transporters (FATP1 and CD36) and glycerol kinase. The activation of the above proteins can cause retention of fatty acids in the adipose tissue. A clinical study showed that a dominant mutation of PPAR- γ resulted in a syndrome of critical hyperinsulinemia and early stage of hypertension [153].

The functions of the target genes of PPAR- α and PPAR- γ are discussed below. Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) promotes clearance of lipid from both chylomicrons and VLDL for storage as triacylglycerol in adipose tissue. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC- α) is an isoform of acetyl CoA carboxylase which is the regulatory enzyme in fatty acid synthesis. Acyl CoA oxidase (ACOX1) utilized molecular oxygen and produces hydrogen peroxide in the first step of lipid oxidation in the liver [154]. Fatty acid transport protein (FATP) is a transporter protein located in the plasma membrane that imports free fatty acids into hepatocytes [155]. Medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (MCAD) is the enzyme which initiates breakdown of acyl-CoA into acetyl-CoA during β -oxidation in the mitochondria [155]. Hormone sensitive lipoprotein lipase (HSL) hydrolyzes triacylglycerol to monoacylglycerol in fatty acid oxidation. The translocation of glucose transport protein 4 (GLUT4) from adipocyte cytosol to the plasma membrane is stimulated by insulin and GLUT4 is responsible for the transport of glucose into the cytosol. TNF- α is secreted by adipocytes and is increased in obesity, known to contribute to insulin resistance [154]. Adipocyte protein 2 (aP2), also called fatty acid binding protein, is a known PPAR- γ target gene which is mostly expressed in white adipose tissue [156]. Adiponectin is a plasma protein primarily secreted from adipose tissue which is responsible for regulating glucose and lipid homeostasis [157].

The detail of PPAR- α and PPAR- γ agonists are being discussed in the following section.

PPARs agonists-fenofibrate and rosiglitazone

Fenofibrate

Fenofibrate, an isopropyl ester of 2-[4-(4-chlorobenzoyl) phenoxy]-2-methyl propanoic acid, was first identified by Thorp and Waring in 1962 [158]. It has a chemical formula of $C_{20}H_{21}O_4Cl$ and a molecular weight of 306.83 Da [159]. Fenofibrate is insoluble in water but quickly converts to the water soluble and pharmacologically active form, fenofibric acid, following oral administration [160].

Fenofibrate as well as its fibric acid derivatives influence plasma lipoprotein levels by regulating the synthesis and clearance of lipoproteins. It can affect many pathways involved in lipid metabolism, cholesterol esterification, platelet aggregation, and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) [161]. The intake of fenofibrate causes several side effects in patients. The most common ones are skin problems, gastrointestinal

effects, muscle pain, and sweating or dizziness [15]; especially rhabdomyolysis is seen in elderly patients [16]. Although an isolated incidence, fenofibrate has been reported to increase myopathy [162]. Moreover, combination of fenofibrate with statin has been shown to cause rhabdomyolysis [163].

Fenofibrate and its metabolite fenofibric acid are ligands for PPAR-α. Fenofibrate reduces plasma triglyceride concentration by up-regulating the expression of genes involved in β-oxidation. Other potential benefits of fenofibrate are decreasing platelet aggregation and the level of plasma fibrinogen [164]. The mechanism for fenofibrate-induced reduction in total cholesterol and LDL is not quite clear. In human studies, treatment with fenofibrate or its fibric acid derivatives significantly reduced the level of LDL, VLDL and total cholesterol due to suppression of cholesterol synthesis [165-168]. Fenofibrate had been shown to inhibit the activity of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase, a rate-limiting enzyme involved in cholesterol synthesis and clearance [169]. Moreover, fenofibrate have been shown to increase the formation of bile from cholesterol, leading to intracellular cholesterol reduction and LDL receptor generation in the liver [170].

Fibric acid derivatives are also known to raise plasma HDL due to rapid generation of the HDL apolipoproteins A-I and A-II. Fenofibrate also promotes the clearance of apo AI; however, the increase in generation exceeds clearance, and thus there is an overall increase in apo A-II. Activity of lecithin-cholesterol acyltranferase (ICAT), an enzyme that functions on the exterior of HDL particle that converts intravascular free cholesterol to cholesteryl ester, was shown to be enhanced by fenofibrate resulting to an increase in plasma HDL levels [170].

A 15-year clinical trial on fenofibrate was done in 1980s and over 3,500 patients participated in the research [171]. Oral administration of fenofibrate for one month resulted in a decrease in plasma triglyceride by 30-60%. A similar reduction of triglyceride concentrations was observed in a study by Tesone and colleagues [172]. In patients with type IIb hyperlipoproteinemia (i.e. elevated LDL and VLDL), fenofibrate reduced triglycerides by approximately 30% and total plasma cholesterol by about 20% [170]. The recommended dosage of fenofibrate is 300 mg/day. A reduction of LDL cholesterol was observed in patients with type IIa hyperlipoproteinemia being treated with fenofibrate [173]. In clinical trials, the continuous intake of fenofibrate (300mg/day) causes decline in total and LDL cholesterol and elevation in HDL concentration [174].

An animal study by Rodney and colleagues [175] showed that fenofibrate upregulates lipoprotein lipase resulting to an increase in triglyceride clearance in the liver and other tissues. The upregulation of lipoprotein lipase also decreases the production of triglyceride in the liver resulting in a decrease of the release of substrate from adipose tissue [175]. Fenofibrate was also shown to reduce plasma triglyceride concentration by approximately 40% in mice fed fructose diet [176]. Another animal study showed that fenofibrate decreased plasma triglyceride levels but increased LDL [177].

Rosiglitazone

Rosiglitazone [(\pm)-5-[[4-[2-(methyl-2-pyridinylamino)-ethoxylphenyl] methyl]-2, 4-thiazolidinedione, (Z)-2-butenedioate (1:1)] is a PPAR- γ agonist belonging to the TZD family [178]. The mechanism of action of rosiglitazone is not related to sulfonylureas,

biguanides, or α -glucosidase inhibitors. Rosiglitazone is a PPAR- γ agonist, which acts mostly on adipose tissue [7]. Rosiglitazone binds with higher affinity to PPAR- γ compared to other TZDs [179]. The ligand dependent activation of PPAR- γ induces gene expression involved in adipogenesis, insulin signaling, and glucose transport. Therefore activation of PPAR- γ has the effect of reducing insulin resistance in target tissues [180].

There are several ways by which rosiglitazone contributes to the treatment of T2DM. Rosiglitazone enhances insulin sensitization in target tissues without promoting the pancreatic secretion of insulin [181]. GLUT4 is a target gene of PPAR- γ and its production and translocation take place whenever PPAR- γ is activated, since GLUT4 is an insulin-dependent transporter. Under healthy conditions, insulin promotes the translocation of GLUT4 to the cell surface to facilitate glucose uptake [179]. If GLUT4 expression is diminished at the cell surface, glucose uptake is reduced and it is considered the primary cause of the development of insulin resistance [182]. PPAR- γ activation may also decrease hepatic glucose production and may promote insulin-dependent glucose uptake in adipose tissue and skeletal muscle [179]. Rosiglitazone stimulates the differentiation of adipocytes and suppresses the release of fatty acids from adipose tissue [183].

Rosiglitazone decreases the expression of lipoprotein lipase and adipocyte lipidbinding protein, enzymes involved in fatty acid metabolism in the adipose tissue [184-185]. Rosiglitazone has also the potential to reduce the expression of leptin *in vivo* and *in vitro*, an adipokine controlling appetite and energy expenditure [186].

Rosiglitazone can also indirectly promote glucose uptake by the skeletal muscle thru improving insulin sensitivity [187]. Activated PPAR- γ stimulates adipocytes to signal the skeletal muscle to increase insulin sensitivity. Both *in vivo* and *in vitro* evidences indicate that TNF- α participates in this signaling pathway since elevation of TNF- α induces insulin resistance in adipose tissue [188]. Rosiglitazone suppresses the inhibitory effects of TNF- α on insulin activity [183, 189].

In humans, rosiglitazone improves insulin sensitivity and secretion, glucose tolerance, and adipocytokines in T2DM patients [190]. T2DM patients receiving rosiglitazone for three months exhibited significant reductions in HbA_{1C}, fasting plasma glucose, fasting free fatty acid, mean glucose GTT, and plasma TNF- α . Also, there was a significant increase in insulin sensitivity despite increases in body weight. These results demonstrate that rosiglitazone improves insulin sensitivity and secretion, and the circulating level of plasma adipokines [190]. Another clinical study showed that T2DM patients treated with rosiglitazone exhibited a 9-14% drop in LDL level and a 5-15% elevation in HDL concentrations [191].

Because of the side effects associated with current pharmacotherapy, nutrition therapies are being explored for lowering blood glucose and cholesterol concentrations. Natural food products containing bioactive compounds are continuously being investigated for their potential in reducing chronic conditions such as obesity and diabetes [17-18].

Health benefits of mango

For this section, studies on mango were divided according to the part of mango used for the study (pulp, peel, kernel, plant) or how it is prepared, such as stem bark extraction or seed extraction.

Mango flesh or pulp

Mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) is a tropical fruit relatively rich in various nutrients and phytochemicals such as polyphenols, vitamin C and dietary fiber. Mango flesh or pulp is the only edible part of the fruit. The mango flesh contains polyphenols, terpenoids, carotenoids, fatty acids [23, 192] and other trace elements such as calcium, vitamin A and C [193]. Over 180 compounds have been identified in at least 20 cultivars of mango. Total concentration of these compounds is about 18-123 mg/kg the fresh fruit [194]. The typical composition of mango pulp is reported in **Table 1**.

Ribeiro and colleagues [27] investigated the pulp composition in four varieties of mango (Haden, Tommy Atkins, Palmer and Uba) and three potential antioxidant substances (total phenolics, carotenoids, and ascorbic acid). The variety with each phytochemical is listed in **Table 2**. Clearly there are varietal differences in terms of nutrient and antioxidant content of mango [27].

The first study on mango flesh was conducted by Frylinck and Dubery [195]. In this experiment, a calcium-dependent protein kinase was purified from the extract of ripening mango fruit tissue [195]. This isolated protein phosphorylates histone III-S to a lesser extent of casein kinase phosphorylating substrates on serine or threonine residues. This particular protein kinase may be an important enzyme in the ripening process of the

mango fruit because ripening is known to involve increased turnover of membrane inositol phospholipids which, in turn, is often coupled to increases in intracellular calcium ion [195].

Nutrient	Units	Value per 100 grams
Protein	g	0.51
Total lipid (fat)	g	0.27
Carbohydrate (by difference)	g	17.00
Total dietary fiber	g	1.8
Total sugars	g	14.80
Calcium	mg	10
Potassium	mg	156
Phosphorus	mg	11
Magnesium	mg	9
Vitamin C (total ascorbic acid)	mg	27.7
Total folate	mg	14
Vitamin A	IU	765
β-carotene	mcg	445
Vitamin E	mg	1.12

Table 1. Typical nutrient composition of mango pulp [196]

	Haden	Uba	Palmer	Tommy Atkins
Total phenolic (mg/100g)	48.4	208.7		
Total carotenoid	1.91		2.63	
(mg/100g)				
β-carotene		2220	661 27	
(µg/100g)		2220	001.27	
Total ascorbic				
acid		77.71		9.79
(mg/100g)				

Table 2. The pulp compositin in four mango cultivars

The anticancer and antioxidant effects of mango juice and juice extract have also been reported [26]. The antioxidant property of mango juice and juice extract was assessed using three standard methods: 1, 1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC), and Folin's assay. The anti-cancer property was evaluated by determining the effect on cell cycle and neoplastic transformation of mammalian BALB/c 3T3 cells [26]. The results of antioxidant property of mango juice and juice extract obtained from three standard methods were consistent with each other. Treatment with mango juice and juice extracts showed an inhibitory effect on the G0/G1 phase of cell cycle progression. In neoplastic transformation assay, whole mango juice significantly reduced amount of transformed foci, indicating the suppressive effect of mango juice exerts on tumor cells [26].

A study by Prasad and coworkers [197] determined the hepatoprotective effects of mango using Swiss albino mice given 7-12-dimethylbenzanthracene (DMBA). After treatment with lupeol (an effective inhibitor in laboratory models of prostate and skin cancers) and mango pulp extract, DMBA-induced oxidative stress was improved, as indicated by the restored antioxidant enzyme activities and reduced lipid peroxidation. They also found that lupeol and mango pulp extract effectively reduced apoptosis in the mouse liver [197].

A similar study [198] explored the antioxidant effect of lupeol and mango pulp extract in response to androgen-induced oxidative stress using Swiss albino mice. Animals received oral treatment of either lupeol or mango pulp extract along with testosterone injection for 15 days. At the end of the study, prostate samples were collected and reactive oxygen species (ROS), lipid peroxidation, and activity of antioxidant enzymes were assessed. Supplementations with lupeol and mango pulp extract each reduced ROS and lipid peroxidation and restored abundance of antioxidant enzymes [198]. The results demonstrated a fact the mango pulp can be used as an antioxidant agent.

Mango peel

Mango peel is one of the inedible parts of mango and a major by-product in pulp manufacturing. Some bioactive compounds have been characterized from mango peel

including 5-alkyl-and 5-alkenylresorcinols [199]. These bioactive molecules are believed to have potential pharmacological effects that relate back to their use as traditional medicine [200].

5-(11' Z-heptadecenyl) - and 5(8'Z, 11'Z-heptadecadienyl)-rescorcinols were also purified from mango peel and they can potentially inhibit the activity of cyclooxygenase COX-1 and COX-2, known pro-inflammatory mediators [199]. Furthermore, a study demonstrated that mango peel inhibited hydrogen peroxide-induced hemolysis in a dose dependent manner [193]. The mango peel extract also prevented membrane protein from degradation induced by hydrogen peroxide. These findings supported that mango peel contains compounds which can protect erythrocytes against oxidative stress [193].

Mango kernel or seed

The mango kernel has also been utilized in research [201-202]. Mango kernel contains twenty-one gallotannins (15.5mg/g) which may contribute to its antioxidative, immunomodulatory, analgesic, and anti-inflammatory properties [203]. In an immune response study, the findings showed that mango kernel treatment effectively improved superoxide anion production, serum protein, albumin, and survivability in fish treated with dried mango kernel compared to the control group [202], and the resutls demonstrated that mango kernel enhanced immune response and allowed fish to be more resistant to pathogen infection. In addition, methanolic and aqueous extracts of mango seed have been shown to have potential anti-diarrheal activity in diabetic mice [201].
Mango stem bark extract

Several phenolic components have been purified from mango stem bark [204]. The major phenolic compounds isolated from the stem bark include mangiferin, gallic acid, 3,4-dihydroxy benzoic acid, gallic acid methyl ester, gallic acid propyl ester, (+)catechin, (-)-epicatechin, and benzoic acid and benzoic acid propyl ester [204]. Vimang-® is the brand name of aqueous extract of *Mangifera indica* family stem bark and mangiferin is the major polyphenol present in Vimang [205].

Anti-diabetic and hypolipidemic effect of stem bark extract

To our knowledge, very few studies have been conducted on glucose lowering and hypolipidemic effects of mango. Aderibigbe and colleagues [206] determined the glucose lowering effects of mango extract using a streptozotocin (STZ)-induced diabetic mice model. Their findings showed that mango aqueous stem bark extract significantly reduced blood glucose in STZ-induced diabetic mice compared to the hypoglycemic drug chlopropanid. Another study conducted by the same group indicated that aqueous extract of mango leaves has also been shown to prevent glucose-induced hyperglycemia in STZinduced diabetic rats [206].

Another *in vivo* study demonstrated that daily oral treatment with one of the two doses of mangiferin (10 and 20 mg/kg) for 28 days had an anti-diabetic effect and atherogenic potential in STZ-induced diabetes in rats. Significant reductions in plasma glucose concentration due to mangiferin were observed in this animal model. Furthermore, mangiferin exhibited a hypolipidemic effect as shown by significant reductions in plasma total cholesterol, triglycerides, and LDL concentrations along with

an increase of HDL-cholesterol. The findings of this study provide evidence of the antidiabetic and hypolipidemic properties of mangiferin [207].

In an *in vivo* study [208], *Mangifera indica* bark extract exhibited the highest percentage inhibition of α -glucosidase compared with *Swertia chirata* whole plant and *Lawsonia inermis* leave extract. *Swertia chirata* is in the gentianaceae family and commonly seen as clearing nut tree and *Lawsonia inermis* is a flowering plant named Henna that has been traditionally used for body stain. The inhibitory effect of *Mangifera indica* bark extract on α -glucosidase may explain the role of mango in preventing obesity and diabetes.

Anti-inflammatory effect of stem bark extract

The anti-inflammatory properties of mango extract have also been explored. Garrido and colleagues [209] conducted a study on the analgesic and anti-inflammatory effects of Vimang-®. Vimang-® at a dose of 50-1000 mg/kg significantly inhibited formalin-induced pain (an indicator of analgesic function) and edema (an indicator of anti-inflammatory function) in mice. The same group [210] tested the anti-inflammatory activity of Vimang both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. The *in vivo* study demonstrated that arachidonic acid and phorbol myristate acetate-induced ear edema was reduced after application of Vimang [210]. Vimang also reduced serum levels of TNF- α in this animal model of inflammation. Vimang inhibited the induction of PGE₂ in stimulated macrophage cells (RAW 264.7) [210].

García and colleagues [211] investigated the effect of Vimang on specific mouse antibody generation induced by inoculation of parasites in mice spleen cells. Vimang but

not mangiferin, significantly decreased antibody production from the third week after inoculation and the inhibitory activity reached a peak at fourth week after inoculation. Vimang also significantly suppressed the production of IgG but not IgM, which suggestes that the primary antibody against antigens is not affected by Vimang. Mangiferin had no effect on neither IgM nor IgG2a, but significantly improved production of IgG1 and IgG2b. These results suggested that mango stem bark extracts may play a role in modulating the humoral response in mouse spleen cells.

Vimang and mangiferin have also been shown to suppress the expression of COX-2 and nitric oxide synthase in Wistar Kyoto (WKY) and spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) rats [212]. Vimang (0.5-0.1 mg/ml) and mangiferin (0.025 mg/ml) inhibited nitric oxide synthase expression (smooth muscle) more in SHR than in WKY rats whereas COX-2 was expressed more in WKY than in SHR. Their findings demonstrate that certain doses of both Vimang and mangiferin suppressed the expression of nitric oxide synthase and COX-2 indicating the anti-inflammatory property of Vimang.

Ojewole [25] used a powder form of stem bark extract of *Mangifera indica* to examine its potential analgesic, anti-inflammatory, and antidiabetic effects in laboratory animals. Mice were used to investigate the analgesic effects while rats were used for assessing the anti-inflammatory and anti-diabetic properties. Significant dose-dependent analgesic effects were observed in mice given 50-800 mg/kg of stem bark extract compared to mice fed morphine (analgesic reference). The same dose of the extract significantly inhibited inflammatory-induced paw edema and lowered glucose level in rats.

The effect of Vimang on eosinophil migration in an animal model of asthma has also been investigated [213]. Eosinophil migration into the bronchoalveolar space was decreased by Vimang treatment (50 mg/kg for 18 days) of *Toxocara canis*-infected BALB/c mice. Along with the reduction of eosinophil migration, reduction of IL-5 in serum and eotaxin in the lungs was observed and therefore prevented animal from inflammation. Moreover, Vimang treatment was determined non-toxic to laboratory animals since normal body weights were maintained during infection. The findings of this study demonstrated the anti-inflammatory effect of Vimang and its potential use in the treatment of eosinophilic disorders, such as eosinophilic esophagitis, eosinophilic gastritis and eosinophilic colitis [213].

Mangiferin along with other major phenolic compounds, catechin and epicatechin, were shown to effectively attenuate human T lymphocytes activationinduced cell death by downregulating the intracellular levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and calcium [214]. Activation-induced cell death was required to maintain peripheral lymphocyte homeostasis and is induced by ROS with calcium influx into the cytosol [214].

Antioxidant effect

A compound purified from stem bark extract of *Mangifera indica* L., QF808, was shown to modulate protein and hepatic microsome peroxidation [215]. QF808 reduced oxidation and lipid peroxidation in bovine serum albumin (BSA), but the activity of NADPH-dependent cytochrome P-450 reductase was not affected. These results suggested that QF808 have potent antioxidant activity possibly acting as a free radical

scavenger in lipid peroxidation.

Stem bark extract of *Mangifera indica L*. also protected T lymphocytes against activation-induced cell death in an *in vitro* study [216]. The stem bark extract attenuated the accumulation of reactive oxygen species and intracellular Ca^{2+} , factors required in the expression of CD95L which plays a role in AIDS. Furthermore, stem bark extract also inhibited activation-induced cell death which is stimulated by T cell receptor and triggers an intracellular signaling pathway that promotes the formation of ROS and the increase in cystolic Ca^{2+} . Therefore, stem bark extract allows the enhancement of T-cell survival [216].

Another *in vitro* study by Rodriguez and colleagues [217] compared the effects of mangiferin with epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) on energy metabolism and malondialdehyde formation, an indicator of oxidative stress. The study found that treatment with Vimang, mangiferin, and EGCG significantly increased the resistance to oxygen species production induced by hydrogen peroxide in human erythrocytes [217]. Hydrogen peroxide-initiated energy charge potential was restored with treatments in a dose-dependent manner. The treatments also increased the level of energy metabolism related compounds that were depleted by hydrogen peroxide damage such as ATP, GTP and total nucleotides [217].

The antioxidant effect of Vimang was further investigated using an *in vivo* study [218]. Vimang inhibited degradation of 2-deoxyribose mediated by Fe (III)-EDTA plus ascorbate. This result illustrated that Vimang dose not simply remove OH⁻ radicals to inhibit 2-deoxyribose degradation, but acts as an anti-oxidant by complexing iron ions [218]. Similarly, Andreu [219] demonstrated that Vimang exhibit iron-complexing

property and protect the liver mitochondria against lipoperoxidation induced by Fe^{2+} citrate. Vimang (equivalent to 10 μ M mangiferin) protected rat liver mitochondria against mitochondrial swelling induced by Fe^{+2} -citrate [219]. The stem bark extract also functioned as a free radical scavenger to protect the mitochondria from lipoperoxidation, confirming the potential antioxidant effect of Vimang [219].

Sánchez and colleagues [220] investigated the effect of Vimang on hepatic ischemia/reperfusion-associated injury. Female Wistar rats with hepatic ischemia received an oral treatment of Vimang (50, 110, and 250 mg/kg of body weight) for seven days. Ischemia/reperfusion-induced transaminase elevation and DNA fragmentation were reduced in a dose-dependent manner by Vimang. These findings suggested that Vimang could be used as a natural treatment for preventing oxidative damage induced by hepatic injury.

An *in vivo* study demonstrated the effect of Vimang against oxidative stress cytotoxicity in rat hepatocytes [221]. Male rats fed diet containing different concentrations of Vimang (20, 50 and 100 μ g/ml) had lower glucose-glucose oxidase induced ROS formation in hepatocytes. Hepatocyte cytotoxicity and lipid peroxidation were both suppressed by Vimang in a dose- and time-dependent manner. In addition, Vimang also inhibited superoxide radical formation [221].

In isoproterenol-induced myocardial infarcted rats, the enzyme activities involved in the tricarboxylic acid cycle and antioxidant defense system were inhibited and lipid peroxidation was promoted in the heart mitochodria [222]. In mangiferin-pretreated rats, fatty acid oxidation was improved and enzyme activities were restored in isoproterenolinduced myocardial infarcted rats [222]. The activities of serum lactate dehydrogenase

and creatine phosphokinase isoenzymes were elevated in isoproperenol-treated rats, indicating myocardial damage. Treatment with mangiferin significantly elevated the levels of heart tissue enzymatic antioxidants and serum non-enzymatic antioxidants compared to isoproterenol-treated rats. These results suggest a protective effect of mangiferin against isoproterenol-induced myocardial infarction [222].

A recent *in vivo* study demonstrated the ability of Vimang or mangiferin in preventing oxidative stress in murine mitochondria of LDL receptor knockout mice [223]. The LDL receptor knockout mice were more sensitive to oxidative stress and mitochondrial membrane permeability transition, increasing its risk of developing atherosclerosis. Oral supplementation with Vimang or mangiferin altered the membrane permeability transition to control levels in LDLr-null liver mitochondria. Vimang or mangiferin also significantly decreased the production of ROS in both LDLr-null liver mitochondria and spleen lymphocytes. Vimang and mangiferin restored both the antioxidant capacity and organelle oxidation-reduction homeostasis in the liver mitochondria of atherosclerosis-prone mice.

Another *in vivo* study demonstrated the anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects of the stem bark aqueous extract of *Mangifera indica* [224]. Stem bark extract inhibited early and late stage T cell activation, as well as the development the S-phase of cell cycle and proliferation induced by T cell receptor [224]. TNF- α -induced I κ B α degradation and the binding of NF- κ B and DNA are also inhibited by stem bark extract [224].

The protective effect of Vimang against oxidative stress was also studied in elderly humans [225]. Elderly subjects (>65 years) received 900 mg of mango stem bark extract daily for 60 days. The plasma lipid peroxides and oxidized glutathione (GSSG),

serum peroxidation potential, extracellular superoxide dismutase activity and total antioxidants were measured at baseline and 15, 30, and 60 days after treatment. Vimang significantly increased the activity of extracellular superoxide dismutase and total antioxidants in elderly participants in comparison to young subjects (<26 years). Vimang also decreased the level of GSSG in elderly subjects. All the above observations suggest that Vimang is effective in preventing age-related oxidative stress in humans [225].

Anti-allergic effect

The anti-helmintic and anti-allergic properties of Vimang and mangiferin in laboratory mice were investigated by García and colleagues [226]. Vimang (500 mg/body weight/day) or mangiferin (50 mg/body weight/day) was given to mice infected with *Trichinella spiralis* throughout the parasite life cycle. Oral treatments of both Vimang and mangiferin significantly decreased the number of parasite larvae in the musculature, but did not influenced adult parasites in the gut. Results also suggest that treatment with Vimang or mangiferin significantly reduced serum level of anti-*Trichinella* IgE which plays an important role in the pathogenesis of allergy.

The anti-allergic effects of Vimang were also demonstrated in female Balb/c mice with inflammatory allergy [227]. At the beginning of the study, mice were immunized by intraperitoneal injection of 100 μ g of ovoalbumin (OVA). Mice received the same amount of OVA a week after first immunization. Twenty-one days after first immunization, Vimang at concentration of 50, 100 or 250 mg/kg and 50 mg/kg of mangiferin was given to the mice. The primary finding of the study was that both Vimang

and mangiferin decreased IgE serum levels in OVA-immunized mice, suggesting an antiallergic effect [227].

Radioprotective effect

The radioprotective effect of mangiferin was demonstrated using DBAxC57BL mice [228]. Mice received different dosages of mangiferin one hour prior to the radiation exposure. Results indicated that mangiferin treatment decreased the symptoms of radiation sickness and mortality compared to the control group. The radioprotective effect of mangiferin increased in a dose-dependent manner and reached peak at a concentration of 2 mg/kg body weight.

Cytotoxic effect

The cytotoxic effects as well as possible interactions of Vimang with P450 enzymes and how it affects GSH and lipid peroxidation were examined in rat hepatocytes [229]. No cytotoxic effects were detected 24 hours after Vimang (up to 1000 μ g/ml) treatment and a moderate cytotoxicity was monitored 48 hours to 72 hours after exposure at concentration of 500 and 1000 μ g/ml. Vimang at concentration above 100 μ g/ml acts as a modulator for P450 enzymes. GSH protein and lipid peroxidation were significantly inhibited after a 36 hours pretreatment with Vimang at concentration of 25-200 μ g/ml.

The cytotoxic effect of mangiferin was examined in rat hepatocytes by Rodeiro and colleagues [230]. A moderate cytotoxic effect was detected after 72 hours of treatment with mangiferin. Moreover, mangiferin decreased the activity of P450 enzymes

in a concentration dependent manner after 48 hours exposure, indicating interaction mangiferin with metabolism [230].

Other protective effects of stem bark extract

Mangiferin also exhibited a gastroprotective effect against gastric injury induced by ethanol and indomethacin in rats [231]. The protective effects of mangiferin on gastric damage were determined by alterations in mean gastric lesion area. Mangiferin at concentrations of 3, 10 and 30 mg/kg body weight decreased ethanol-induced gastric damage by 30, 35, and 63%, and indomethacin-induced by 22, 23, and 57%, respectively. In addition, mangiferin successfully prevented the depletion of gastric mucosal nonprotein sulfhydryl content in mice, suggesting an antioxidative effect. This study provided evidence to support the protection of mangiferin against gastric injury caused by ethanol and indomethacin, and a possible underlying mechanism might be mangiferin's antioxidative action.

In a more recent study, the effect of mango components (i.e. mangiferin and quercetin, and a metabolite of mangiferin, norathyriol) on PPARs was examined [232]. It is reported that quercetin as well as norathyriol exhibited an inhibitory effect on activation on all three subtypes of PPARs. However, mangiferin did not suppress the transactivation of any PPARs. This study suggests that components of mango may modify the transcription of PPARs and could promote health benefits [232].

Vimang or mangiferin also exhibited an effect on preventing iron overload injury in rat model [233]. Rats received three dosages of Vimang or 40 mg/kg body weight of mangiferin for seven days before and after administration of 100 mg/kg of iron-dextran.

Their results demonstrated that Vimang or mangiferin prevented iron overload in plasma as well as oxidative stress in hepatocytes and reduce the percentage of saturation and iron content in the liver. Moreover, Vimang or mangiferin enhanced serum iron-binding capacity and decreased the number of abnormal Kupffer cells in iron-loaded hepatic tissue. The authors suggested that Vimang or mangiferin are potential antioxidants and promote liver iron excretion to protect liver against iron overload [233].

The effect of mango stem bark extract on the contraction of the smooth muscle of the trachea of rats was investigated by Agbonon and colleagues [234]. After inducing a substantial contraction in the smooth muscle of the trachea of male Wistar rats by acetylcholine, the trachea was treated with mango stem bark extract (1, 2 and 4 mg/ml) [234]. Stem bark extract of mango dose-dependently relaxed the isolated trachea in this model, indicating possible use of mango in the treatment of asthma.

By now, there are many studies conducted on the nutritional benefits of mango stem bark extract. However, there is very limited source focusing on the mango flesh which is the only edible part of mango. Therefore, we conducted this study to illustrate the nutritional benefits of consuming mango flesh in maintaining individual's health.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Animal care and dietary treatments

Fifty two, three-month old C57BL/6J male mice were purchased from Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN). Animal handling and procedures were approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Oklahoma State University. Mice were acclimated for three days and were fed with standardized powdered rodent diet (AIN 93M) [235]. After acclimation, mice were weighed and randomly divided into six dietary treatment groups (n=8 mice/ group): (1) AIN-93M [235]; (2) high fat diet (based on formulation of [236]); (3) high fat diet with fenofibrate (0.05mg/kg diet, Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, Michigan); (4) high fat diet with rosiglitazone (0.005mg/kg diet, Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, MI); (5) high fat diet with 1% (w/w) freeze dried mango (low dose); and (6) high fat diet with 10% (w/w) freeze dried mango (high dose). Tommy Atkins variety mango was freeze dried, ground, analyzed for its nutrient composition (**Table 3**) and incorporated into the diet at 1% or 10% concentration by weight. All high fat diets were adjusted to have the same macronutrient composition, as well as calcium and phosphorus (Table 4). Mice were given food and deionized water ad *libitum* and were weighed weekly.

Glucose tolerance test

After eight weeks of dietary treatment, a glucose tolerance test was performed (n=6 mice/ group). Mice were fasted overnight and 50 μ l of blood from the tail was used to determine baseline blood glucose concentrations using a home glucose testing kit (Onetouch Ultra, LifeScan, Inc. Milpitas, CA). Mice were then injected intraperitoneally with 20% glucose solution (2 g/kg body weight). Blood glucose concentration was again determined at 5, 15, 30, 60 and 120 minutes post glucose injection. Area under the curve was calculated by the trapezoidal rule [237].

Necropsy and tissue processing

After two months of dietary treatment, mice were weighed and injected with ketamine/xylazine cocktail (80 and 8 mg/kg body weight, respectively). Body composition was determined using a GE Lunar Piximus (Fitchburg, WI). Blood was collected from carotid artery into EDTA coated tubes. Plasma was obtained by centrifugation of whole blood for 20 minutes at 1306 g and stored at -80°C until further analyses. White adipose tissue, liver, spleen, kidney and skeletal muscle were collected. White adipose tissue, liver and kidney were weighed, snap-frozen and stored at -80°C. Skeletal muscle was snap-frozen and stored at -80°C.

Clinical analyses

Alfa Wassermann (West Caldwell, NJ) clinical chemistry analyzer was used to determine plasma concentrations of glucose, non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA), total cholesterol, HDL-C, and triglycerides. Kits were purchased from Alfa Wasserman (West Caldwell, NJ) except for NEFA (Wako Diagnostics, Richmond, VA) and the manufacturer's instructions were strictly followed.

Plasma glucose concentrations were determined based on its reaction with adenosine triphosphate (ATP) in the presence of hexokinase and magnesium which produces glucose-6 phosphate and adenosine diphosphate (ADP). Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase oxidizes glucose-6-phosphate and NAD⁺ to form 6-phosphogluconate and NADH. The NADH produced, which strongly absorbed at 340nm, is proportional to the amount of glucose in the plasma (Alfa Wasserman, West Caldwell, NJ).

To determine total cholesterol, esterified cholesterol was first hydrolyzed by cholesterol esterase to free cholesterol and free fatty acids. Endogenous free cholesterol and cholesterol released from cholesterol esters are oxidized by cholesterol oxidase to produce hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2). Peroxidase then catalyzes the reaction between H_2O_2 , p-hydroxybenzoic acid and 4-aminoantipyrine to produce a red-color quinoneimine complex which strongly absorbs at 505 nm. The amount of chromogen generated is proportional to the total cholesterol concentration when measuring the absorbance at 505 nm/647 nm (Alfa Wasserman, West Caldwell, NJ).

The HDL-cholesterol assay uses a unique reagent which solubilizes only the HDL lipoproteins and also inhibits reaction of the cholesterol enzymes with LDL, VLDL and chylomicron lipoproteins. HDL cholesterol is then released from lipoproteins and reacts with cholesterol esterase and oxidase which in the presence of a chromogen produces color for detection. Chromogen formation is determined by measuring the absorbance bichromatically at 592/692 nm which is proportional to the HDL cholesterol concentration (Alfa Wasserman, West Caldwell, NJ).

Plasma triglycerides are hydrolyzed by lipase to release glycerol and free fatty acids. In the presence of ATP and glycerol kinase, glycerol is phosphorylated to glycerol-1-phosphate and ATP is converted to ADP. Glycerol-1-phoaphate is then oxidized by glycerol phosphate oxidase to produce H_2O_2 . H_2O_2 reacts with *p*-chlorophenol and 4aminoantipyrine to produce a red-color quinoneimine, a reaction is catalyzed by peroxidase. Chromogen formation is determined by measuring the absorbance bichromatically at 505/692 nm which is proportional to the triglyceride concentration (Alfa Wasserman, West Caldwell, NJ).

In the presence of ATP and CoA, NEFA is converted to thiol esters of CoA, when treated with acyl-CoA synthetase. Then acyl-CoA is oxidized to produce H_2O_2 in the presence of acyl-CoA oxidase and peroxidase. This conversion allows the condensation of 3-methyl-N-ethyl-N-(β -hydroxyethyl)-aniline with 4-aminoantipyrine to create a purple-color product which absorbs strongly at 550 nm (Wako Diagnostics, Richmond, VA).

Plasma leptin, adiponectin and insulin

Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits from Linco Research (St. Charles, MO) were used to determine plasma concentrations of leptin, adiponectin and insulin. The wells of microtiter plates were coated with anti-mouse adiponectin, leptin or insulin monoclonal antibodies before use. The plate was then coated with a second biotinylated anti-mouse polyclonal antibody to capture the analytes in the samples. Unbound materials from samples were then washed off and horseradish peroxidase was applied on to the immobilized biotinylated antibodies. The activity of horseradish

peroxidase was monitored using 3, 3', 5, 5'-tetramethylbenzidine as a substrate and absorbance at 450 nm was measured using a microplate reader (Biotek Synergy, Winooski, VT). The captured mouse adiponectin, leptin or insulin in the plasma was directly proportional to the increase in absorbance at 450nm/590nm (Linco Research, St. Charles, MO).

RNA isolation

RNA was extracted from the liver, white adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle using STAT60 (TEL-TEST INC, TX), chloroform (Sigma, St Louis, MO) and isopropyl alcohol (Sigma, St Louis, MO). All the tissue samples were homogenized in STAT-60 (1ml of STAT-60/50-100 mg tissue). The tubes were left at room temperature for 5 minutes followed by addition of chloroform (0.2ml chloroform /ml STAT-60). Tubes were centrifuged at 11,750 g for 15 minutes at 4°C and the top aqueous layer was transferred to a new tube. Isopropyl alcohol (0.5ml/ml STAT-60) was added to each tube and was inverted thoroughly. Tubes were left for 10 minutes at room temperature and then centrifuged at 11,750 g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and 75% ethanol (1ml ethanol/1 ml STAT-60) was added to each tube, vortexed, and centrifuged again at 4592 g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the precipitated RNA was air-dried for 2-3 minutes and then dissolved in 100 µl DEPC H₂O. The concentrations and quality of the RNA samples were determined by NanoDrop Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE). The quality of RNA was confirmed with agarose gel electrophoresis. RNA samples were stored at -80 °C until

used for RT-PCR. All qRT PCR results were evaluated by the comparative cycle number at threshold (C_T) method using cyclo or 36b4 as the invariant control.

Gene expression by real time-PCR

Genes involved in lipid metabolism, PPAR-α, LPL, ACC-α, ACOX1, FATP and MCAD were assessed in the liver. Cyclophilin was used as housekeeping gene.

For white adipose tissue, genes involved in glucose and lipid metabolism were assessed. These genes include HSL, GLUT4, and ACOX1, ACC- α , LPL, and PPAR- γ , aP2, and adiponectin. Cyclophilin was used as housekeeping gene.

For skeletal muscle, genes involved in both glucose and lipid metabolism (GLUT4, ACOX1, ACCα, FATP and MCAD) were assessed and used 36b4 as housekeeping gene. The functions of these genes were discussed in the previous section.

Amplifications were performed in a 10 µL reaction mix containing unkown cDNA samples on a 384-well plate, forward and reverse primers, and SYBR Green I PCR reagents (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The primers used for PCR are shown in **Table 5**. Amplifications of cDNA were detected constantly by realtime quantitative PCR on 7900 HT Fast Real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). The PCR amplification protocol is as follows: (i) initial attenuation at 95°C for 10 minutes; and (ii) three-segment amplification and quantification involving 40 cycles of 50°C for 120 s, 95°C for 10 min, 95°C for 9 s, 60°C for 60 s, 95°C for 9 s, and 60°C for 9 s.

Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses involved computation of least square means and standard error (SE) for each of the treatment groups using SAS version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). Analysis of variance and least square means were calculated using the general linear model procedure and the means were compared using Fisher's least significant difference for comparing groups. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05. **Table 3:** Nutrient composition of freeze-dried Tommy mango used in the study¹

Nutrients	Amount (g/100 g)		
Protein	3.94		
Fat	6.46		
Fiber	3.84		
Ash	2.19		
Calcium	0.0424		
Phosphorus	0.0941		
Carbohydrate	74.8		
Calories (kcal/100g)	373		

¹Nutrient composition was analyzed by NP Analytical Laboratories (St. Louis, MO).

Ingredient	Normal	High fat	High fat	High fat		
	diet" (AIN-03M)	diet	diet $+ 1\%$	diet $+ 10\%$		
	(AII (-951))	amount (a/ka diet)				
N.4	amouni (10	100		
Mango	0	0	10	100		
Total carbohydrate	721	370	370	370		
Cornstarch	621	100	94	25.2		
Sucrose	100	270	270	270		
Contribution of mango			7.5	74.8		
Total fat	40	350	350	350		
Soybean Oil	40	40	39.4	33.5		
Lard	0	310	310	310		
Contribution of mango			0.646	6.47		
Total Protein	140	180	180	180		
Casein	140	180	179.6	176.1		
Contribution of mango			0.394	3.9		
Total fiber	50	50	50	50		
Cellulose	50	50	49.6	31		
Contribution of mango			0.384	3.83		
Vitamin Mix (AIN 93VX)	10	10	10	10		
Mineral Mix (AIN 93 MX)	35	35	35	35		
Choline Bitartrate	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5		
L-cysteine	1.8	1.8	1.8	1.8		
Tert-butylhydroquinone	0.008	0.008	0.008	0.008		
Kcal/ 100g diet ^e	379	549	553	546		

Table 4: Composition of the experimental diets

^aBased on AIN-93M formulations containing 72% carbohydrate, 4% fat and 14% protein by calories (Reeves et al., 1997).

^bHigh fat diet (37 % carbohydrate, 35% fat and 18% protein by calories) based on formulation of Molnar et al (2005).

^cRosiglitazone and fenofibrate were from Cayman Chemicals (Ann Arbor, MI) and added to the high fat diet at a dose of 50 and 500 mg/kg diet, respectively.

^eAnalyzed by NP Analytical Laboratories (St. Louis, MO)

Table 5: Primers used for real-time PCR

Gene	Forward sequence (F)
	Reverse sequence (R)
Peroxisome proliferator-activated	(F) 5`-CGTACGGCAATGGCTTTATC
receptor alpha (PPARα)	(R) 5`-AACGGCTTCCTCAGGTTCTT
Peroxisome proliferator-activated	(F) 5`-CCCACCAACTTCGGAATCA
receptor gamma (PPARy)	(R) 5`-TGCGAGTGGTCTTCCATCAC
Lipoprotein lipase (LPL)	(F) 5`-GGACTGAGAATGGCAAGCAA
	(R) 5`-CCACTGTGCCGTACAGAGAAA
Hormone sensitive lipoprotein lipase	(F) 5'-GGAGCACTACAAACGCAACGA
(hsLPL)	(R) 5'-TCGGCCACCGGTAAAGAG
Acyl-Coenzyme A oxidase 1	(F) 5'-AGATTGGTAGAAATTGCTGCAAAA
(ACOX-1)	(R) 5'-ACGCCACTTCCTTGCTCTTC
Acetyl-CoA carboxylase alpha (ACCα)	(F) 5'-GGCAGCTCTGGAGGTGTATG
	(R) 5'-TCCTTAAGCTGGCGGTGTT
Glucose transporter 4 (GLUT 4)	(F) 5`-CCTTTCTCATTGGCATCATTTC
	(R) 5`-CACGGCCAAGACATTGTTG
Adiponectin	(F) 5`-TCACGGTGTACATGAAAGATGTG
	(R) 5`-GAGAACGGCCTTGTCCTTCT
Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFα)	(F) 5`-CTGAGGTCAATCTGCCCAAGTAC
	(R) 5`-CTTCACAGAGCAATGACTCCAAAG
Fatty acid transporter protein 1	(F) 5'-CCGTATCCTCACGCATGTGT
(FATP1)	(R) 5'-CTCCATCGTGTCCTCATTGAC
Fatty acid transporter protein 5	(F) 5'-GACCACTGGACTCCCAAAGC
(FATP5)	(R) 5'-GACAGCACGTTGCTCACTTGT
Medium-chain acyl dehydrogenase	(F) 5'-GATGCCATCACCCTCGTGTAAC
(MCAD)	(R) 5'-AAGCCCTTTTCCCCTGAAG
adipocyte protein 2 (aP2)	(F) 5`-GCCAAGCCCAACATGATCA
	(R) 5`-TTCCACGCCCAGTTTGAAG
36B4	(F) 5'-CACTGGTCTAGGACCCGAGAAG
	(R) 5'-GGTGCCTCTGAAGATTTTCG
Cyclophilin (cyclo)	(F) 5`-TGGAGAGCACCAAGACAGACA
	(R) 5`-TGCCGGAGTCGACAATGAT

CHAPTER IV

FINDINGS

Food intake, body and tissue weights

Two mango groups had similar daily food intake compare to fenofibrate, rosiglitazone and high fat diet groups. As mice were fed *ad libitum*, the average food intake of the mice receiving the normal diet was significantly greater than those receiving the high fat (**Table 6**). Because of the higher food intake, caloric intake of the mice fed normal diet was significantly higher than all the other treatment groups (**Table 6**).

After eight weeks of feeding, there were no significant differences in the initial and final body weights (**Table 6**) as well as weekly body weights among groups (**Table 7**). Despite similar body weight, adipose tissue weight was highest in the group fed high fat diet (**Table 6**). The two doses of mango, similar to fenofibrate and rosiglitazone, prevent the increase of adipose tissue to that of the normal diet (**Table 6**). Consumption of fenofibrate resulted to a significantly heavier liver, an effect not seen in the low dose mango (**Table 6**). There were no significant differences in kidney and spleen weights (**Table 6**).

Whole body composition

There was no significant difference in lean mass among all groups (**Table 8**). The two doses of mango, similar to rosiglitazone and fenofibrate, significantly reduced fat mass (**Table 8**) and percent body fat to the level of those receiving normal diet (**Figure 2**). As expected, high fat group had the highest fat mass (**Table 8**) and percent body fat (**Figure 2**).

Glucose tolerance test

Mice fed with the normal diet tended (P=0.0544) to have the highest baseline glucose concentration while those in the rosiglitazone group the lowest (**Table 9**). No significant differences in blood glucose concentration were observed after 5 and 15 minutes of glucose injection. However, significant differences were observed after 30, 60, and 120 minutes after glucose injection (**Table 9**). Mango supplementation at 1% dose is the most effective in normalizing blood glucose concentrations after a glucose tolerance test as indicated by comparing the area under the curve (**Figure 3**). High fat diet had the highest blood glucose concentration at these time points while 1% mango had the lowest (**Table 9**). Rosiglitazone, a known hypoglycemic agent, fenofibrate and 10% mango is similar to the high fat diet in terms of its effect on area under the curve (**Figure 3**).

Clinical chemistry parameters

There were significant differences in plasma glucose concentration after two months of dietary treatment (**Figure 4**). Mice fed with 1% mango had similar plasma

concentration to rosiglitazone group, which was significantly lower than the normal diet, high fat diet, and fenofibrate (**Figure 4**). Mango supplementation at 10% dose had an intermediate effect on plasma glucose concentration (**Figure 4**).

There were significant differences in plasma total cholesterol among the groups after two months of dietary treatment (**Figure 5**). Mice receiving the normal diet and rosiglitazone had the lowest plasma total cholesterol concentrations (**Figure 5**). Interestingly, mice receiving fenofibrate had the highest total cholesterol and those receiving high fat diet had an intermediate total cholesterol values (**Figure 5**). Plasma total cholesterol concentrations of mice in the low or high dose mango was similar to the rosiglitazone and the normal diet group (**Figure 5**).

There were also significant differences in plasma HDL-C concentrations among the treatment groups (**Table 10**). Mice receiving rosiglitazone or the two doses of mango had similar HDL-C to those in the normal diet (**Table 10**). Mice receiving fenofibrate had the highest HDL-C (**Table 10**).

All other treatment groups reduced NEFA to the level of the normal diet group except for the high dose mango which had an in-between effect (**Figure 6**). Non-esterified fatty acid (NEFA) was highest in the high fat group (**Figure 6**).

There was no significant difference in plasma triglycerides concentrations among any of the treatment groups (**Table 10**).

Plasma leptin, adiponectin and insulin

Significant differences in plasma leptin concentrations were observed after two months of dietary treatment (**Figure 7**). Mice in the normal and high fat diet had similar

plasma leptin concentrations which was significantly higher than the mice receiving mango (**Figure 7**). Rosiglitazone and fenofibrate had an intermediate effect on plasma leptin concentrations (**Figure 7**).

Mice in the high fat diet, fenofibrate and 1% mango had similar plasma adiponectin concentrations which was significantly higher than the mice in the rosiglitazone group (**Figure 8**). Mice receiving the high dose of mango had similar plasma of adiponectin concentrations to the mice in normal diet and rosiglitazone group (**Figure 8**).

There was no significant difference in plasma insulin concentrations among the treatment groups (**Table 10**).

Gene expression by real time PCR

There were significant differences in the liver gene expression (relative mRNA) of enzymes involved in fatty acid synthesis, ACC α and β oxidation ACOX1 and MCAD after two months of dietary treatment (**Figures 9-14**). Low dose mango has similar relative ACC α mRNA to that of normal and high fat diet (**Figure 9**). Relative to the normal diet, fenofibrate supplementation had significantly higher gene expression of ACC α (**Figure 9**). High dose mango had the lowest gene expression of ACC α followed by rosiglitazone (**Figure 9**). Similar pattern was observed in the gene expression of ACOX1 (**Figure 10**) and MCAD (**Figure 11**) in the liver.

After two months of dietary treatment, there was a significant difference in the liver gene expression of the transport protein FATP5 (**Figure 12**). High fat and fenofibrate groups had significantly higher liver FATP5 gene expression compared to the

rosiglitazone and mango groups (**Figure 12**). Gene expression of transport protein FATP1 in the skeletal muscle was not affected by dietary treatment (**Table 10**).

Only fenofibrate increased gene expression of liver LPL relative to the normal diet group (**Figure 13**). Normal diet, high fat diet, and fenofibrate treatment had significantly higher liver relative mRNA of PPAR α than the low and high dose mango groups (**Figure 14**).

There were no significant differences in the relative mRNA level of genes examined in the white adipose tissue (ACC α , ACOX1, adiponectin, aP2, GLUT4, hsLPL, LPL and PPAR- γ) and in the skeletal muscle (ACOX1, FATP1, GLUT4, LPL, and MCAD) (**Table 11**).

Table 6: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on food intake and body and tissue weights of mice fed high fat diet for two months¹

Para-	AIN-93M	High Fat	High Fat	High Fat	High Fat	High Fat	P value
meters			+ 1%	+ 10%	+ Feno-	+ Rosi-	
			Mango	Mango	fibrate	glitazone	
Food intake (g/d)	4.9 ± 0.1^{a}	2.4 ± 0.1^{b}	2.4 ± 0.1^{b}	2.6 ± 0.1^{b}	2.4 ± 0.1^{b}	2.6 ± 0.1^{b}	< 0.0001
Calories (<i>kcal/d</i>)	$\begin{array}{c} 18.5 \pm \\ 0.3^{\mathrm{a}} \end{array}$	13.3 ± 0.3^{bc}	$13.5 \pm 0.3^{ m bc}$	$14.0\pm0.3^{\rm b}$	$13.0 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$	14.2 ± 0.3^{b}	< 0.0001
Body weigh	nts (g)						
Initial	23.4 ± 0.5	23.3 ± 0.5	23.3 ± 0.6	23.8 ± 0.6	23.0 ± 0.5	23.1 ± 0.6	0.9342
Final	29.4 ± 1.0	30.9 ± 1.0	27.7 ± 1.2	29.1 ± 1.1	28.0 ± 1.0	26.8 ± 1.1	0.1136
Tissue weig	ghts (mg)	-	-	-	-	-	
Adipose tissue	830 ± 164 ^b	1530 ± 164 ^a	$730\pm186^{\rm b}$	870 ±174 ^b	828 ±164 ^b	524 ± 174^{b}	0.0037
Liver	994 ± 46^{bc}	$909 \pm 46^{\circ}$	$897 \pm 52^{\circ}$	$1058\pm49^{ m b}$	1644 ± 46 ^a	$923\pm49^{\mathrm{bc}}$	< 0.0001
Spleen	70 ± 14	63 ± 14	84 ± 16	100 ± 15	66 ± 14	99 ± 15	0.2848
Kidney	361 ± 11	330 ± 11	343 ± 12	358 ± 12	338 ± 11	341 ± 12	0.3343

¹Values are mean \pm SE, n=8/group; within a row, values that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Table 7: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on weekly body weights of mice fed high fat diet for two months¹

	AIN-93M	High fat	High fat+1% mango	High fat+10% mango	High fat+ Feno- fibrate	High fat+ Rosigli- tazone	P value
			(gra	ams)			
Initial weight	23.4 ± 0.5	23.3 ± 0.5	23.3 ± 0.6	23.8 ± 0.6	23.0 ± 0.5	23.1 ± 0.6	0.9342
Week 1	23.5 ± 0.6	24.7 ± 0.6	24.6 ± 0.7	24.4 ± 0.7	23.8 ± 0.6	23.4 ± 0.7	0.5920
Week 2	23.4 ± 0.7	24.6 ± 0.7	25.7 ± 0.8	25.3 ± 0.8	24.7 ± 0.7	23.4 ± 0.8	0.2173
Week 3	26.8 ± 0.8	26.1 ± 0.8	27.3 ± 1.0	27.5 ± 0.9	26.1 ± 0.8	25.3 ± 0.9	0.5114
Week 4	27.8 ± 0.9	28.3 ± 0.9	29.0 ± 1.0	29.4 ± 0.9	27.1 ± 0.9	26.9 ± 0.9	0.3496
Week 5	28.5 ± 1.1	29.8 ± 1.1	29.7 ± 1.2	29.4 ± 1.1	27.8 ± 1.1	28.1 ± 1.1	0.6814
Week 6	29.9 ± 1.2	32.4 ± 1.2	31.0 ± 1.3	31.0 ± 1.2	28.9 ± 1.2	29.3 ± 1.2	0.3175
Week 7	31.4 ± 1.2	33.1 ± 1.2	31.2 ± 1.4	31.7 ± 1.3	29.6 ± 1.2	29.3 ± 1.3	0.2993
Final weight	29.4 ± 1.0	30.9 ± 1.0	27.7 ± 1.2	29.1 ± 1.1	28.0 ± 1.0	26.8 ± 1.1	0.1136

¹Values are mean \pm SE, n=8/group.

Table 8: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on lean and fat mass of mice fed high fat diet for two months¹

Paramete rs	AIN-93M	High Fat	High Fat + 1% Mango	High Fat + 10% Mango	High Fat + Feno- fibrate	High Fat + Rosi- glitazone	P value
Lean mass (g)	20.8 ± 0.5	19.6 ± 0.5	21.1 ± 0.5	20.4 ± 0.5	20.2 ± 0.5	20.5 ± 0.5	0.4847
Fat mass (g)	$7.2 \pm 1.0^{\mathrm{b}}$	10.1 ± 1.0^{a}	$5.4 \pm 1.0^{\mathrm{b}}$	$6.8 \pm 1.0^{\mathrm{b}}$	6.5 ± 1.0^{b}	$5.7 \pm 1.0^{\mathrm{b}}$	0.0255

¹Values are mean \pm SE, n=8/group; within a row, values that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Table 9: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on blood glucose during a glucose tolerance test of mice fed high fat diet for two months¹

	AIN-93M	High fat	High fat +1% mango	6 High fat +10% mango	High fat +Feno- fibrate	High fat + Rosigli-tazone	P value
			(mg	/dl)			
Baseline	153.7±11.1	120.7 ± 11.1	112.3 ± 12.0	127.3 ± 12.0	128.1 ± 11.1	102.1 ± 11.1	0.0544
5 min	262.0 ± 21.4	234.0 ± 21.4	259.3 ± 23.2	233.8 ± 23.2	247.7 ± 21.4	178.3 ± 21.4	0.1025
15 min	431.4 ± 29.0	407.3 ± 29.0	382.0 ± 31.3	352.2 ± 31.3	417.0 ± 29.0	377.4 ± 29.0	0.4623
30 min	389.6 ± 30.7^{bc}	490.0 ± 30.7^a	$349.8\pm33.2^{\rm c}$	420.8 ± 33.2^{abc}	467.3 ± 30.7^{ab}	431.7 ± 30.7 ^{abc}	0.0441
60 min	319.9 ± 34.5^{ab}	413.3 ± 34.5^{a}	216.8 ± 37.3^{b}	351.5 ± 37.3^a	373.6 ± 34.5^{a}	323.9 ± 34.5^a	0.0137
120 min	$17\overline{1.0 \pm 21.9^{ab}}$	217.3 ± 21.9^{a}	114.7 ± 23.7^{b}	232.7 ± 23.7^{a}	167.6 ± 21.9 ^{ab}	188.3 ± 21.9^{a}	0.0177

¹Values are mean \pm SE, n=6/group; within a row, values that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Table 10: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone and fenofibrate on plasma triglycerides, HDLcholesterol, and insulin concentrations of mice fed high fat diet for two months¹

Para- meters	AIN-93M	High Fat	High Fat + 1% Mango	High Fat + 10% Mango	High Fat + Feno- fibrate	High Fat + Rosi- glitazone	P value
TG (<i>mg/dl</i>)	53.2 ± 6.8	52.1 ± 6.8	58.4 ± 7.7	38.4 ± 7.7	36.1 ± 6.8	46.5 ± 7.2	0.2146
HDL (mg/dl)	$37.0 \pm 4.1^{\circ}$	$52.9\pm3.9^{\text{b}}$	$41.2\pm4.8^{\text{bc}}$	$44.1 \pm 4.4^{\text{bc}}$	$75.6\pm3.9^{\mathrm{a}}$	$33.7 \pm 4.4^{\circ}$	< 0.0001
Insulin (<i>ng/ml</i>)	0.19 ± 0.02	0.23 ± 0.02	0.20 ± 0.02	0.19 ± 0.02	0.19 ± 0.02	0.18 ± 0.02	0.2674

¹Values are mean \pm SE, n=8/group; within a row, values that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other. TG=triglycerides, HDL=high density lipoprotein cholesterol.

Table 11: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on gene expression (relative mRNA) in white adipose tissue and skeletal muscle of mice fed high fat diet for two months¹

Para-meters	AIN-93M	High Fat	High Fat + 1% Mango	High Fat + 10% Mango	High Fat + Feno- fibrate	High Fat + Rosi- glitazone	P value				
White adipose tis	White adipose tissue (Control gene=Cyclo)										
$\begin{array}{c} ACC\alpha\\ Mean C_T = 21.0 \end{array}$	1.00 ± 5.2	1.16 ± 5.2	0.99 ± 4.8	11.92 ± 4.8	2.19 ± 4.8	1.35 ± 4.8	0.5431				
ACOX1 Mean $C_T = 21.0$	1.00 ± 0.5	0.49 ± 0.5	1.19 ± 0.5	1.07 ± 0.5	2.04 ± 0.5	0.93 ± 0.5	0.4379				
Adipo- Nectin Mean C _T =20.4	1.00 ± 0.3	0.50 ± 0.23	0.80 ± 0.3	0.92 ± 0.3	0.71 ± 0.3	1.31 ± 0.3	0.4306				
aP2 Mean C _T =20.4	1.00 ± 0.3	0.58 ± 0.3	0.82 ± 0.3	1.04 ± 0.3	0.64 ± 0.3	1.80 ± 0.3	0.0598				
GUT4 Mean C _T =20.7	1.00 ± 0.3	0.59 ± 0.3	0.73 ± 0.3	0.50 ± 0.3	0.83 ± 0.3	1.00 ± 0.3	0.6595				
hsLPL Mean C _T =21.0	1.00 ± 3.4	0.87 ± 3.4	1.42 ± 3.1	7.82 ± 3.1	2.25 ± 3.1	2.68± 3.1	0.6334				
LPL Mean C _T =20.7	1.00 ± 0.3	0.59 ± 0.3	125 ± 0.3	0.61 ± 0. 3	1.01 ± 0.3	1.37 ± 0.3	0.3315				
$\begin{array}{c} PPAR\gamma\\ Mean C_T = 20.7 \end{array}$	1.00 ± 0.3	0.55 ± 0.3	1.15 ± 0.3	0.59 ± 0.3	0.78 ± 0.3	0.83 ± 0.3	0.6666				
Skeletal muscle (Control gene=3	<i>86b4)</i>									
ACOX1 Mean C_T =23.2	1.00 ± 0.1	1.02 ± 0.1	0.9 ± 0.2	1.17 ± 0.2	0.78 ± 0.1	1.15 ± 0.1	0.4660				
FATP1 Mean C _T =23.7	1.00 ± 0.9	2.70 ± 0.8	1.25 ± 0.9	2.33 ± 0.9	1.22 ± 0.8	2.08 ± 0.8	0.6317				
$\begin{array}{c} \text{GLUT4} \\ \text{Mean } \text{C}_{\text{T}} = 20.6 \end{array}$	1.00 ± 0.1	0.81 ± 0.1	0.98 ± 0.1	0.63 ± 0.1	0.62 ± 0.1	0.63 ± 0.2	0.1516				
$\frac{\text{LPL}}{\text{Mean } C_{T}=23.2}$	1.00 ± 0.1	0.88 ± 0.1	0.83 ± 0.2	0.96 ± 0.2	0.73 ± 0.1	0.79 ± 0.1	0.8073				
$\frac{\text{MCAD}}{\text{Mean } C_{T}=23.2}$	1.00 ± 0.1	1.32 ± 0.1	1.04 ± 0.1	1.00 ± 0.1	0.93 ± 0.1	0.88 ± 0.1	0.2229				

¹Values are mean \pm SE, n=6/group.

Figure 2: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on % body fat of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=8/group; bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Figure 3: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on glucose area under the curve after a glucose tolerance test of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months¹



 1 Bars are mean \pm SE, n=6/group; bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Figure 4: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone and fenofibrate on plasma glucose level of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=8/group; Bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Figure 5: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on plasma total cholesterol (TC) concentrations of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=8/group; Bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.
Figure 6: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on plasma non-esterified fatty acid (NEFA) concentrations of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=8/group; Bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Figure 7: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on plasma leptin concentrations of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=8/group; Bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Figure 8: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on plasma adiponectin concentrations of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=8/group; Bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Figure 9: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on relative mRNA of acetyl-CoA carboxylase alpha (ACC α) in the liver of mice fed high fat diet (HF) for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=6/group; Bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Figure 10: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on relative mRNA of acylcoenzyme A oxidase 1 (ACOX1) in the liver of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=8/group; Bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Figure 11: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on relative mRNA of medium-chain acyl dehydrogenase (MCAD) in the liver of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=6/group; Bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Figure 12: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on relative mRNA of fatty acid transporter protein 5 (FATP5) in the liver of mice fed high fat diet (HF) for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=6/group; Bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Figure 13: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone, and fenofibrate on relative mRNA of lipoprotein lipase (LPL) in the liver of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=6/group; Bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

Figure 14: Effects of mango, rosiglitazone and fenofibrate on relative mRNA level of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPAR α) in the liver of mice fed high fat (HF) diet for two months¹



¹Bars are mean \pm SE, n=8/group; Bars that do not share the same letters are significantly (P<0.05) different from each other.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSION

This study investigated the effect of two doses of freeze-dried mango on body composition and blood glucose and lipids in a mouse model of high fat diet-induced obesity. Moreover, the effects of mango were compared to that of fenofibrate and rosiglitazone, known PPAR agonists. This animal study lasted for about eight weeks and the experiment duration is slightly shorter than other studies fed animals with high fat diet [238-239]; however the effects of treatments had shown already in a short period.

In this study, we did not observe differences in weekly and final body weights among the treatment groups. This is likely due to the mice in the normal diet having significantly higher food intake than those in the high fat diet since mice were fed *ad libitum*. Moreover, all groups fed the high fat diet groups had similar food intake. Despite similar final body weights among the groups, there were differences in body composition, specifically fat mass and percent body fat. No difference in lean mass was observed. Fat mass and percent body fat was highest in the high fat group and the two doses of mango had comparable effect to that of rosiglitazone and fenofibrate in modulating body fat, which illustrated the benefit of mango supplements in reducing body fat. To our knowledge, this is the first study demonstrating the effectiveness of mango in reducing body fat. The findings of our study that fenofibrate prevents adiposity is consistent with other animal studies [32, 240-241]. This effect of fenofibrate on adiposity is attributed to its role in regulating the synthesis and clearance of lipoprotein [161] and energy dissipation by induction of uncoupling protein in the liver mitochondria [242]. In our study, treatment with rosiglitazone reduced the weight of adipose tissue to the control group. This finding is consistent with the pleiotropic effects of TZDs modulating visceral fat while increasing subcutaneous fat [243]. Rosiglitazone is a known PPAR- γ agonist and is responsible for cell differentiation in adipose tissue [244] which may partly explain the decrease in adipose tissue mass observed in this study. If cell differentiation is limited by rosiglitazon, the growth of adipose tissue might be restricted.

Our study showed that 1% and 10% mango supplementation, similar to rosiglitazone and fenofibrate, reduced adipose tissue mass to that of the mice fed normal rodent diet (AIN-93M). The mechanism by which mango reduces fat mass may partly be due to its effect on upregulating the gene expression of aP2. Adipocyte protein 2 (aP2) is a marker of terminal adipocyte differentiation and involved in free fatty acid transport and shunting within the cell [245-246]. PPAR- γ agonists such as rosiglitazone upregulate the expression of aP2, a PPAR- γ target gene [247]. Our findings show that the aP2 gene expression tended (P=0.0598) to be elevated with rosiglitazone treatment (three times higher than the high fat diet fed mice not receiving rosiglitazone), however, a relatively low dose of rosiglitazone as was used in our study may be sufficient to augment the induction of lean phenotype as seen by Kuda and colleagues [248]. However, a ten fold higher dose of rosiglitazone has been shown to promote obesity, as observed in most studies with mice [249-250]. The reduced aP2 expression in the high fat diet fed animals

may be an adaptive response of the adipose tissue to limit further expansion of fat storage. The effects of mango and rosiglitazone on adipose mass may be by modulating the expression of a critical nuclear transcription factorthat can trigger the entire process of adipocyte differentiation. However, this is speculative and needs to be further explored.

In addition to its role in adipocyte differentiation, aP2 is also linked to inflammation and metabolic syndrome [246]. Circulating aP2 is correlated with insulin resistance and dyslipidemia in human studies [251-252]. aP2 deficiency is believed to promote insulin resistance in high fat diet induced obesity mouse model [253].

Liver weight and changes in expression of genes in the liver regulated by fenofibrate demonstrated the effectiveness of the dose of fenofibrate used in this study. Mice receiving fenofibrate had the highest liver weight among all the treatment groups, which is consistent with the findings in rats and mice [254]. Fenofibrate induces peroxisome proliferation in the liver which contributed to the increase in liver weight. Peroxisomes are organelles that contain many enzymes involved in fatty acid degradation [255] and PPAR- α agonist activates genes encoding these enzymes during dimerization with RXR [42, 256]. Low dose mango did not cause an increase in liver weight as seen with fenofibrate, while the high dose mango group had an intermediate effect on liver weight.

Glucose tolerance tests demonstrated that freeze-dried mango at 1% dose exhibited glucose lowering properties in our animal model. This result is more pronounced than the one obtained from the rosiglitazone group, a known glucoselowering agent. As a comparison, the 10% dose mango is similar to the rosiglitazone

group, but not as impressive as the 1% dose in lowering blood glucose. In addition to the glucose tolerance test, plasma glucose obtained at the end of the study confirmed the glucose-lowering properties of mango. Similar to the findings of the glucose tolerance test, the low dose mango had the most effect in reducing plasma glucose. This unique glucose lowering property of mango may be attributed to the increasing stimulation of pancreatic cells to secrete insulin [206] or the suppression of intestinal absorption of glucose [257]. To our knowledge, only three studies have been conducted that investigated the glucose lowering properties of mango and these studies have been limited to the extract of stem bark [207] or leaves [258]. The aqueous extract of mango leaves prevented hyperglycemia in STZ-induced diabetic rats [258]. Our findings are the first to demonstrate the effectiveness of mango pulp in modulating hyperglycemia induced by high fat diet.

There were no significant differences in the mRNA expression of GLUT4. Translocation of GLUT4 to the cell membrane promotes glucose uptake resulting to lower blood glucose concentrations [179]. The mechanism of how mango exactly performs glucose lowering effects is not clear at this time. Mango may affect genes involved in hepatic glycogenesis and gluconeogenesis and not necessarily uptake and genes involved in these pathways should be examined in future studies.

The component of mango responsible for this positive effect on glucose is not known at this time. In addition to the phenolic content of mango, a component that may have contributed to this glucose-lowering property of mango is dietary fiber. The mango used in this study contains approximately 4% dietary fiber. Dietary fiber has been shown to lower blood glucose level in laboratory animals [259] and in humans [260]. For

example, dietary fiber fractions from the plant, *Trigonella foenum graecum*, lowered blood glucose in a rat model of type 2 diabetes by interfering with the digestion of sucrose [261]. Similarly, cereal fiber lowered glucose level in diabetics [262].

The antioxidant content of mango may also help in reducing oxidative stress and lowering complications of diabetes. Mango is a significant source of the antioxidants β carotene and C [23]. Increased amount of fatty acids and modified lipoproteins can induce oxidative stress as a result of inflammatory responses, and the production of free radicals promote the complications associated with type 2 diabetes [263]. Several studies have reported that depletion of antioxidants (i.e; tocopherols, carotene, ascorbic acids, lycopene) is involved in cardiovascular and diabetes complications [264-267]. These antioxidants have inhibitory effect on ROS generation by suppressing the activity of ROS producing enzymes such as xanthine oxidase, cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase, microsomal monooxygenase, glutathione-S-transferase, mitochondrial succinoxidase, NADH oxidase [268]. The effect of mango in reducing oxidative stress needs to be further explored.

In addition to lowering glucose, mango had moderate effects on plasma total cholesterol in this animal model. Mice receiving the two doses of mango or rosiglitazone had similar total cholesterol to those receiving the normal diet. However, plasma total cholesterol of the mango group was not statistically different from those receiving the high fat diet. Interestingly, fenofibrate produced an increase in plasma total cholesterol and has no effect on triglycerides, which is contradictory to the findings of some earlier studies [168, 170, 176-177]. Fenofibrate is a known hypolipidemic drug that has been used to manipulate lipid metabolism since 1980 [160]. It activates lipoprotein lipase to reduce the generation of triglycerides in the liver in mice [175-176].

The fenofibrate group also showed the highest plasma HDL-C concentration which is consistent with earlier findings [170]. Moreover, the fenofibrate group exhibited significantly higher liver gene expression of ACC α , ACOX1, FATP5, LPL and MCAD, again consistent with other studies [155, 241]. Changes in the gene expression in the liver explain the observed effect on lipids by fenofibrate. Whether mango acts similarly as fenofibrate in modulating lipids is not clear at this time.

Futher studies may need to focus on genes involved in glucose metabolism that could investigate the hypoglycemic effect of mango. Overall, low dose mango was better than the glucose lowering drug, rosiglitazone, in modulating blood glucose concentration due to high fat diet. Moreover, mango similar to rosiglitazone favorably alters body composition by reducing % body fat without affecting lean mass. Human studies need to be conducted to confirm our findings.

REFERENCES

- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM: Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004. JAMA 2006, 295(13):1549-1555.
- 2. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics
- 3. National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases: National Diabetes Statistics, 2007 Fact Sheet. 2007.
- 4. Alberti KG ZP, Shaw J,: **Metabolic syndrome-a new world-wide definition. A Consensus Statement from the International Diabetes Federation**. *Diabet Med* 2006, **23**(5):469-480.
- Neumiller JJ, Setter SM, Gates BJ, Sonnett TE, Dobbins EK, Campbell K: Pharmacological management of glycemic control in the geriatric patient with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Consult Pharm* 2009, 24(1):45-63.
- 6. Rosak C: [Insulin analogs: structure, properties and therapeutic indication. Part 2. Long-acting insulin analogs]. *Internist (Berl)* 2001, **42**(12):1692-1699.
- Lehmann JM, Moore LB, Smith-Oliver TA, Wilkison WO, Willson TM, Kliewer SA: An antidiabetic thiazolidinedione is a high affinity ligand for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR gamma). J Biol Chem 1995, 270(22):12953-12956.
- 8. Carruthers M, Trinick TR, Jankowska E, Traish AM: **Are the adverse effects of glitazones linked to induced testosterone deficiency**? *Cardiovasc Diabetol* 2008, **7**:30.
- 9. Yang T, Soodvilai S: **Renal and vascular mechanisms of thiazolidinedioneinduced fluid retention**. *PPAR Res* 2008, **2008**:943614.
- 10. Chu K, Lee ST, Koo JS, Jung KH, Kim EH, Sinn DI, Kim JM, Ko SY, Kim SJ, Song EC *et al*: **Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma-agonist, rosiglitazone, promotes angiogenesis after focal cerebral ischemia**. *Brain Res* 2006, **1093**(1):208-218.
- 11. Erol A: The Functions of PPARs in Aging and Longevity. *PPAR Res* 2007, 2007:39654.
- 12. Ferre P: The biology of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: relationship with lipid metabolism and insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes* 2004, 53 Suppl 1:S43-50.
- 13. Latruffe N, Vamecq J: **Peroxisome proliferators and peroxisome proliferator activated receptors (PPARs) as regulators of lipid metabolism**. *Biochimie* 1997, **79**(2-3):81-94.
- 14. Aasum E, Khalid AM, Gudbrandsen OA, How OJ, Berge RK, Larsen TS: Fenofibrate modulates cardiac and hepatic metabolism and increases

ischemic tolerance in diet-induced obese mice. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 2008, **44**(1):201-209.

- 15. Roberts WC: Safety of fenofibrate--US and worldwide experience. *Cardiology* 1989, **76**(3):169-179.
- 16. Graham DJ, Staffa JA, Shatin D, Andrade SE, Schech SD, La Grenade L, Gurwitz JH, Chan KA, Goodman MJ, Platt R: **Incidence of hospitalized rhabdomyolysis in patients treated with lipid-lowering drugs**. *JAMA* 2004, **292**(21):2585-2590.
- Thirunavukkarasu M, Penumathsa SV, Koneru S, Juhasz B, Zhan L, Otani H, Bagchi D, Das DK, Maulik N: Resveratrol alleviates cardiac dysfunction in streptozotocin-induced diabetes: Role of nitric oxide, thioredoxin, and heme oxygenase. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2007, 43(5):720-729.
- Jayaprakasam B, Vareed SK, Olson LK, Nair MG: Insulin secretion by bioactive anthocyanins and anthocyanidins present in fruits. J Agric Food Chem 2005, 53(1):28-31.
- 19. Ware WR: Nutrition and the prevention and treatment of cancer: association of cytochrome P450 CYP1B1 with the role of fruit and fruit extracts. *Integr Cancer Ther* 2009, **8**(1):22-28.
- 20. Iriti M, Faoro F: Grape phytochemicals: a bouquet of old and new nutraceuticals for human health. *Med Hypotheses* 2006, **67**(4):833-838.
- 21. Wu H, Dai Q, Shrubsole MJ, Ness RM, Schlundt D, Smalley WE, Chen H, Li M, Shyr Y, Zheng W: Fruit and vegetable intakes are associated with lower risk of colorectal adenomas. *J Nutr* 2009, **139**(2):340-344.
- 22. Severi JA, Lima ZP, Kushima H, Brito AR, Santos LC, Vilegas W, Hiruma-Lima CA: Polyphenols with antiulcerogenic action from aqueous decoction of mango leaves (Mangifera indica L.). *Molecules* 2009, **14**(3):1098-1110.
- 23. Ajila CM, Prasada Rao UJ: **Protection against hydrogen peroxide induced oxidative damage in rat erythrocytes by Mangifera indica L. peel extract**. *Food Chem Toxicol* 2008, **46**(1):303-309.
- 24. Leiro J, Garcia D, Arranz JA, Delgado R, Sanmartin ML, Orallo F: **An Anacardiaceae preparation reduces the expression of inflammation-related genes in murine macrophages**. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2004, **4**(8):991-1003.
- 25. Ojewole JA: Antiinflammatory, analgesic and hypoglycemic effects of Mangifera indica Linn. (Anacardiaceae) stem-bark aqueous extract. *Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol* 2005, **27**(8):547-554.
- 26. Percival SS, Talcott ST, Chin ST, Mallak AC, Lounds-Singleton A, Pettit-Moore J: Neoplastic transformation of BALB/3T3 cells and cell cycle of HL-60 cells are inhibited by mango (Mangifera indica L.) juice and mango juice extracts. *J Nutr* 2006, **136**(5):1300-1304.
- 27. Rocha Ribeiro SM, Queiroz JH, Lopes Ribeiro de Queiroz ME, Campos FM, Pinheiro Sant'ana HM: **Antioxidant in mango (Mangifera indica L.) pulp**. *Plant Foods Hum Nutr* 2007, **62**(1):13-17.
- 28. Lucas EA, Juma S, Stoecker BJ, Arjmandi BH: **Prune suppresses ovariectomyinduced hypercholesterolemia in rats**. *J Nutr Biochem* 2000, **11**(5):255-259.
- 29. Dulebohn RV, Yi W, Srivastava A, Akoh CC, Krewer G, Fischer JG: Effects of blueberry (Vaccinium ashei) on DNA damage, lipid peroxidation, and phase II enzyme activities in rats. *J Agric Food Chem* 2008, **56**(24):11700-11706.

- 30. Bobek P, Ginter E, Jurcovicova M, Ozdin L, Cerven J, Babala J: Effect of dehydrated apple products on the serum and liver lipids in Syrian hamsters. *Nahrung* 1990, **34**(9):783-789.
- Chao L, Marcus-Samuels B, Mason MM, Moitra J, Vinson C, Arioglu E, Gavrilova O, Reitman ML: Adipose tissue is required for the antidiabetic, but not for the hypolipidemic, effect of thiazolidinediones. *J Clin Invest* 2000, 106(10):1221-1228.
- 32. Guerre-Millo M, Gervois P, Raspe E, Madsen L, Poulain P, Derudas B, Herbert JM, Winegar DA, Willson TM, Fruchart JC *et al*: **Peroxisome proliferator**activated receptor alpha activators improve insulin sensitivity and reduce adiposity. *J Biol Chem* 2000, **275**(22):16638-16642.
- 33. Redinger RN: **The prevalence and etiology of nongenetic obesity and associated disorders**. *South Med J* 2008, **101**(4):395-399.
- 34. World Health Organization: **Obesity**. 2009.
- 35. Lean ME: **Obesity: burdens of illness and strategies for prevention or management**. *Drugs Today (Barc)* 2000, **36**(11):773-784.
- 36. World Health Organization: **Physical Status: The Use and Interpretation of Anthropometry. WHO Technical Report. Geneva:** 1995.
- 37. Konner AC, Klockener T, Bruning JC: **Control of energy homeostasis by insulin and leptin: targeting the arcuate nucleus and beyond**. *Physiol Behav* 2009, **97**(5):632-638.
- 38. Woods SC, D'Alessio DA: Central control of body weight and appetite. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2008, **93**(11 Suppl 1):S37-50.
- 39. Spiegelman BM, Flier JS: **Obesity and the regulation of energy balance**. *Cell* 2001, **104**(4):531-543.
- 40. Ravussin E, Bogardus C: **Relationship of genetics, age, and physical fitness to** daily energy expenditure and fuel utilization. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1989, **49**(5 Suppl):968-975.
- 41. Seeley RJ, Woods SC: Monitoring of stored and available fuel by the CNS: implications for obesity. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2003, **4**(11):901-909.
- 42. Schoonjans K, Martin G, Staels B, Auwerx J: **Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors, orphans with ligands and functions**. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 1997, **8**(3):159-166.
- 43. Verges B: Clinical interest of PPARs ligands. *Diabetes Metab* 2004, **30**(1):7-12.
- 44. Saltiel AR, Kahn CR: Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Nature* 2001, **414**(6865):799-806.
- 45. Fantuzzi G: Adipose tissue, adipokines, and inflammation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2005, **115**(5):911-919; quiz 920.
- 46. Asensio C, Jimenez M, Kuhne F, Rohner-Jeanrenaud F, Muzzin P: **The lack of beta-adrenoceptors results in enhanced insulin sensitivity in mice exhibiting increased adiposity and glucose intolerance**. *Diabetes* 2005, **54**(12):3490-3495.
- 47. Fonseca-Alaniz MH, Takada J, Alonso-Vale MI, Lima FB: **Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ: from theory to practice**. *J Pediatr (Rio J)* 2007, **83**(5 Suppl):S192-203.

- 48. Palace VP, Spallholz JE, Holm J, Wautier K, Evans RE, Baron CL: Metabolism of selenomethionine by rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) embryos can generate oxidative stress. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* 2004, **58**(1):17-21.
- 49. Hutley L, Prins JB: **Fat as an endocrine organ: relationship to the metabolic syndrome**. *Am J Med Sci* 2005, **330**(6):280-289.
- 50. Pan DA, Lillioja S, Kriketos AD, Milner MR, Baur LA, Bogardus C, Jenkins AB, Storlien LH: Skeletal muscle triglyceride levels are inversely related to insulin action. *Diabetes* 1997, **46**(6):983-988.
- 51. Boden G, Chen X, Ruiz J, White JV, Rossetti L: Mechanisms of fatty acidinduced inhibition of glucose uptake. *J Clin Invest* 1994, **93**(6):2438-2446.
- 52. Unger RH: Lipotoxicity in the pathogenesis of obesity-dependent NIDDM. Genetic and clinical implications. *Diabetes* 1995, **44**(8):863-870.
- 53. Batty GD, Shipley MJ, Jarrett RJ, Breeze E, Marmot MG, Davey Smith G: Obesity and overweight in relation to disease-specific mortality in men with and without existing coronary heart disease in London: the original Whitehall study. *Heart* 2006, **92**(7):886-892.
- 54. Pradhan A: **Obesity, metabolic syndrome, and type 2 diabetes: inflammatory basis of glucose metabolic disorders**. *Nutr Rev* 2007, **65**(12 Pt 2):S152-156.
- 55. Tapsell L, Batterham M, Huang XF, Tan SY, Teuss G, Charlton K, Oshea J, Warensjo E: Short term effects of energy restriction and dietary fat sub-type on weight loss and disease risk factors. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 2009.
- 56. Shai I, Schwarzfuchs D, Henkin Y, Shahar DR, Witkow S, Greenberg I, Golan R, Fraser D, Bolotin A, Vardi H *et al*: Weight loss with a low-carbohydrate, Mediterranean, or low-fat diet. *N Engl J Med* 2008, 359(3):229-241.
- 57. Idelevich E, Kirch W, Schindler C: Current pharmacotherapeutic concepts for the treatment of obesity in adults. *Ther Adv Cardiovasc Dis* 2009, **3**(1):75-90.
- 58. Luque CA, Rey JA: **Sibutramine: a serotonin-norepinephrine reuptakeinhibitor for the treatment of obesity**. *Ann Pharmacother* 1999, **33**(9):968-978.
- 59. Padwal RS, Majumdar SR: **Drug treatments for obesity: orlistat, sibutramine, and rimonabant**. *Lancet* 2007, **369**(9555):71-77.
- 60. Leung WY, Thomas GN, Chan JC, Tomlinson B: Weight management and current options in pharmacotherapy: orlistat and sibutramine. *Clin Ther* 2003, **25**(1):58-80.
- 61. Dahlin A, Beermann B: **Incorrect use of orlistat and sibutramine in clinical practice**. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2007, **63**(2):205-209.
- 62. Filippatos TD, Derdemezis CS, Gazi IF, Nakou ES, Mikhailidis DP, Elisaf MS: Orlistat-associated adverse effects and drug interactions: a critical review. Drug Saf 2008, **31**(1):53-65.
- 63. Barlow SE, Dietz WH: **Obesity evaluation and treatment: Expert Committee** recommendations. The Maternal and Child Health Bureau, Health Resources and Services Administration and the Department of Health and Human Services. *Pediatrics* 1998, **102**(3):E29.
- 64. Balsiger BM, Kennedy FP, Abu-Lebdeh HS, Collazo-Clavell M, Jensen MD, O'Brien T, Hensrud DD, Dinneen SF, Thompson GB, Que FG *et al*: **Prospective evaluation of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass as primary operation for medically complicated obesity**. *Mayo Clin Proc* 2000, **75**(7):673-680.

- 65. Weber M, Muller MK, Bucher T, Wildi S, Dindo D, Horber F, Hauser R, Clavien PA: Laparoscopic gastric bypass is superior to laparoscopic gastric banding for treatment of morbid obesity. *Ann Surg* 2004, **240**(6):975-982; discussion 982-973.
- 66. Pories WJ: **Bariatric surgery: risks and rewards**. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2008, **93**(11 Suppl 1):S89-96.
- 67. Lemieux S, Lapointe A: **Dietary approaches to manage body weight**. *Can J Diet Pract Res* 2008, **69**(1):3 p following 26.
- 68. American Dibetes Association: Clinical Practice Recommendations. *Diabetes Care* 2004.
- 69. Lillioja S, Mott DM, Spraul M, Ferraro R, Foley JE, Ravussin E, Knowler WC, Bennett PH, Bogardus C: Insulin resistance and insulin secretory dysfunction as precursors of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Prospective studies of Pima Indians. *N Engl J Med* 1993, **329**(27):1988-1992.
- 70. Efendic S, Ostenson CG: **Hormonal responses and future treatment of noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM)**. *J Intern Med* 1993, **234**(2):127-138.
- Hamman RF: Genetic and environmental determinants of non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM). Diabetes Metab Rev 1992, 8(4):287-338.
- 72. Malecki MT: Genetics of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 2005, 68 Suppl1:S10-21.
- 73. Ostenson CG: **The pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus: an overview**. *Acta Physiol Scand* 2001, **171**(3):241-247.
- 74. Efendic S, Kindmark H, Berggren PO: Mechanisms involved in the regulation of the insulin secretory process. *J Intern Med Suppl* 1991, **735**:9-22.
- 75. Prentki M: New insights into pancreatic beta-cell metabolic signaling in insulin secretion. *Eur J Endocrinol* 1996, **134**(3):272-286.
- 76. Holz GG, Habener JF: **Signal transduction crosstalk in the endocrine system:** pancreatic beta-cells and the glucose competence concept. *Trends Biochem Sci* 1992, **17**(10):388-393.
- 77. Dournaud P, Boudin H, Schonbrunn A, Tannenbaum GS, Beaudet A: Interrelationships between somatostatin sst2A receptors and somatostatin- containing axons in rat brain: evidence for regulation of cell surface receptors by endogenous somatostatin. J Neurosci 1998, 18(3):1056-1071.
- 78. Yoshioka N, Kuzuya T, Matsuda A, Taniguchi M, Iwamoto Y: Serum proinsulin levels at fasting and after oral glucose load in patients with type 2 (noninsulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 1988, **31**(6):355-360.
- 79. Giorgino F, Laviola L, Leonardini A: **Pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes:** rationale for different oral antidiabetic treatment strategies. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 2005, 68 Suppl1:S22-29.
- 80. Reaven GM: **Pathophysiology of insulin resistance in human disease**. *Physiol Rev* 1995, **75**(3):473-486.
- 81. Dominici FP, Argentino DP, Munoz MC, Miquet JG, Sotelo AI, Turyn D: Influence of the crosstalk between growth hormone and insulin signalling on

the modulation of insulin sensitivity. *Growth Horm IGF Res* 2005, **15**(5):324-336.

- 82. DeFronzo RA, Bonadonna RC, Ferrannini E: **Pathogenesis of NIDDM. A** balanced overview. *Diabetes Care* 1992, **15**(3):318-368.
- 83. Gerich JE: **The genetic basis of type 2 diabetes mellitus: impaired insulin secretion versus impaired insulin sensitivity**. *Endocr Rev* 1998, **19**(4):491-503.
- 84. Shulman GI: **Cellular mechanisms of insulin resistance in humans**. *Am J Cardiol* 1999, **84**(1A):3J-10J.
- 85. Eriksson J, Franssila-Kallunki A, Ekstrand A, Saloranta C, Widen E, Schalin C, Groop L: Early metabolic defects in persons at increased risk for non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med* 1989, **321**(6):337-343.
- 86. Gulli G, Ferrannini E, Stern M, Haffner S, DeFronzo RA: **The metabolic profile** of NIDDM is fully established in glucose-tolerant offspring of two Mexican-American NIDDM parents. *Diabetes* 1992, **41**(12):1575-1586.
- 87. Charles MA, Eschwege E, Thibult N, Claude JR, Warnet JM, Rosselin GE, Girard J, Balkau B: **The role of non-esterified fatty acids in the deterioration of glucose tolerance in Caucasian subjects: results of the Paris Prospective Study**. *Diabetologia* 1997, **40**(9):1101-1106.
- Kennedy JW, Hirshman MF, Gervino EV, Ocel JV, Forse RA, Hoenig SJ, Aronson D, Goodyear LJ, Horton ES: Acute exercise induces GLUT4 translocation in skeletal muscle of normal human subjects and subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 1999, 48(5):1192-1197.
- 89. Tirosh A, Potashnik R, Bashan N, Rudich A: **Oxidative stress disrupts insulin**induced cellular redistribution of insulin receptor substrate-1 and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. A putative cellular mechanism for impaired protein kinase B activation and GLUT4 translocation. J Biol Chem 1999, 274(15):10595-10602.
- 90. Garvey WT, Maianu L, Zhu JH, Brechtel-Hook G, Wallace P, Baron AD:
 Evidence for defects in the trafficking and translocation of GLUT4 glucose transporters in skeletal muscle as a cause of human insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* 1998, 101(11):2377-2386.
- 91. Galuska D, Ryder J, Kawano Y, Charron MJ, Zierath JR: Insulin signaling and glucose transport in insulin resistant skeletal muscle. Special reference to GLUT4 transgenic and GLUT4 knockout mice. Adv Exp Med Biol 1998, 441:73-85.
- 92. Gabriely I, Barzilai N: **Surgical removal of visceral adipose tissue: effects on insulin action**. *Curr Diab Rep* 2003, **3**(3):201-206.
- 93. Goodpaster BH, Kelley DE, Wing RR, Meier A, Thaete FL: Effects of weight loss on regional fat distribution and insulin sensitivity in obesity. *Diabetes* 1999, **48**(4):839-847.
- 94. Wing RR: Insulin sensitivity as a predictor of weight regain. *Obes Res* 1997, **5**(1):24-29.
- 95. Hays NP, Galassetti PR, Coker RH: **Prevention and treatment of type 2** diabetes: current role of lifestyle, natural product, and pharmacological interventions. *Pharmacol Ther* 2008, **118**(2):181-191.

- 96. Kelley DE, Wing R, Buonocore C, Sturis J, Polonsky K, Fitzsimmons M: Relative effects of calorie restriction and weight loss in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1993, 77(5):1287-1293.
- 97. Ross R, Dagnone D, Jones PJ, Smith H, Paddags A, Hudson R, Janssen I: **Reduction in obesity and related comorbid conditions after diet-induced weight loss or exercise-induced weight loss in men. A randomized, controlled trial.** Ann Intern Med 2000, **133**(2):92-103.
- 98. Barzilai N, She L, Liu BQ, Vuguin P, Cohen P, Wang J, Rossetti L: Surgical removal of visceral fat reverses hepatic insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 1999, 48(1):94-98.
- 99. Toledo FG, Menshikova EV, Ritov VB, Azuma K, Radikova Z, DeLany J, Kelley DE: Effects of physical activity and weight loss on skeletal muscle mitochondria and relationship with glucose control in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2007, **56**(8):2142-2147.
- 100. Devlin JT, Hirshman M, Horton ED, Horton ES: Enhanced peripheral and splanchnic insulin sensitivity in NIDDM men after single bout of exercise. *Diabetes* 1987, **36**(4):434-439.
- 101. Hughes VA, Fiatarone MA, Fielding RA, Kahn BB, Ferrara CM, Shepherd P, Fisher EC, Wolfe RR, Elahi D, Evans WJ: Exercise increases muscle GLUT-4 levels and insulin action in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. Am J Physiol 1993, 264(6 Pt 1):E855-862.
- 102. Ebeling P, Bourey R, Koranyi L, Tuominen JA, Groop LC, Henriksson J, Mueckler M, Sovijarvi A, Koivisto VA: Mechanism of enhanced insulin sensitivity in athletes. Increased blood flow, muscle glucose transport protein (GLUT-4) concentration, and glycogen synthase activity. J Clin Invest 1993, 92(4):1623-1631.
- 103. Carlsson S, Hammar N, Efendic S, Persson PG, Ostenson CG, Grill V: Alcohol consumption, Type 2 diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance in middle-aged Swedish men. *Diabet Med* 2000, **17**(11):776-781.
- 104. Wannamethee SG, Camargo CA, Jr., Manson JE, Willett WC, Rimm EB: Alcohol drinking patterns and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus among younger women. *Arch Intern Med* 2003, **163**(11):1329-1336.
- 105. Beulens JW, Stolk RP, van der Schouw YT, Grobbee DE, Hendriks HF, Bots ML: Alcohol consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes among older women. Diabetes Care 2005, 28(12):2933-2938.
- 106. Koppes LL, Dekker JM, Hendriks HF, Bouter LM, Heine RJ: **Moderate alcohol consumption lowers the risk of type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of prospective observational studies**. *Diabetes Care* 2005, **28**(3):719-725.
- 107. Kiechl S, Willeit J, Poewe W, Egger G, Oberhollenzer F, Muggeo M, Bonora E: Insulin sensitivity and regular alcohol consumption: large, prospective, cross sectional population study (Bruneck study). *BMJ* 1996, 313(7064):1040-1044.
- 108. Egede LE, Ye X, Zheng D, Silverstein MD: **The prevalence and pattern of complementary and alternative medicine use in individuals with diabetes**. *Diabetes Care* 2002, **25**(2):324-329.

- 109. Barnes PM, Powell-Griner E, McFann K, Nahin RL: **Complementary and** alternative medicine use among adults: United States, 2002. *Adv Data* 2004(343):1-19.
- 110. Tindle HA, Davis RB, Phillips RS, Eisenberg DM: **Trends in use of complementary and alternative medicine by US adults: 1997-2002**. *Altern Ther Health Med* 2005, **11**(1):42-49.
- 111. Therapeutic Research Faculty: **Natural Medicines Comprehensive Database**. *In J M Jellin* 2006.
- 112. Althuis MD, Jordan NE, Ludington EA, Wittes JT: **Glucose and insulin** responses to dietary chromium supplements: a meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2002, **76**(1):148-155.
- 113. Guido M, Romualdi D, Giuliani M, Suriano R, Tienforti D, Costantini B, Lanzone A: Effect of metformin on the growth hormone response to growth hormonereleasing hormone in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* 2005, **84**(5):1470-1476.
- 114. Hundal RS, Krssak M, Dufour S, Laurent D, Lebon V, Chandramouli V, Inzucchi SE, Schumann WC, Petersen KF, Landau BR *et al*: Mechanism by which metformin reduces glucose production in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2000, 49(12):2063-2069.
- 115. Kirpichnikov D, McFarlane SI, Sowers JR: Metformin: an update. Ann Intern Med 2002, 137(1):25-33.
- 116. Zhou G, Myers R, Li Y, Chen Y, Shen X, Fenyk-Melody J, Wu M, Ventre J, Doebber T, Fujii N *et al*: **Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action**. *J Clin Invest* 2001, **108**(8):1167-1174.
- 117. Kim YD, Park KG, Lee YS, Park YY, Kim DK, Nedumaran B, Jang WG, Cho WJ, Ha J, Lee IK *et al*: Metformin inhibits hepatic gluconeogenesis through AMP-activated protein kinase-dependent regulation of the orphan nuclear receptor SHP. *Diabetes* 2008, 57(2):306-314.
- 118. Collier CA, Bruce CR, Smith AC, Lopaschuk G, Dyck DJ: Metformin counters the insulin-induced suppression of fatty acid oxidation and stimulation of triacylglycerol storage in rodent skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2006, 291(1):E182-189.
- 119. Gillies PS, Dunn CJ: **Pioglitazone**. *Drugs* 2000, **60**(2):333-343; discussion 344-335.
- 120. Smith U: **Pioglitazone: mechanism of action**. *Int J Clin Pract Suppl* 2001(121):13-18.
- 121. Bajaj M, Suraamornkul S, Hardies LJ, Glass L, Musi N, DeFronzo RA: Effects of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)-alpha and PPAR-gamma agonists on glucose and lipid metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 2007, **50**(8):1723-1731.
- 122. Lincoff AM, Wolski K, Nicholls SJ, Nissen SE: **Pioglitazone and risk of** cardiovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a metaanalysis of randomized trials. *JAMA* 2007, **298**(10):1180-1188.
- 123. Weyer C, Maggs DG, Young AA, Kolterman OG: **Amylin replacement with** pramlintide as an adjunct to insulin therapy in type 1 and type 2 diabetes

mellitus: a physiological approach toward improved metabolic control. *Curr Pharm Des* 2001, **7**(14):1353-1373.

- 124. Buse JB, Klonoff DC, Nielsen LL, Guan X, Bowlus CL, Holcombe JH, Maggs DG, Wintle ME: Metabolic effects of two years of exenatide treatment on diabetes, obesity, and hepatic biomarkers in patients with type 2 diabetes: an interim analysis of data from the open-label, uncontrolled extension of three double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. *Clin Ther* 2007, **29**(1):139-153.
- 125. Edelman SV, Weyer C: Unresolved challenges with insulin therapy in type 1 and type 2 diabetes: potential benefit of replacing amylin, a second beta-cell hormone. *Diabetes Technol Ther* 2002, **4**(2):175-189.
- 126. Smith SR, Blundell JE, Burns C, Ellero C, Schroeder BE, Kesty NC, Chen KS, Halseth AE, Lush CW, Weyer C: Pramlintide treatment reduces 24-h caloric intake and meal sizes and improves control of eating in obese subjects: a 6wk translational research study. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2007, 293(2):E620-627.
- 127. Vella A, Lee JS, Camilleri M, Szarka LA, Burton DD, Zinsmeister AR, Rizza RA, Klein PD: Effects of pramlintide, an amylin analogue, on gastric emptying in type 1 and 2 diabetes mellitus. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2002, 14(2):123-131.
- 128. Gedulin BR, Rink TJ, Young AA: **Dose-response for glucagonostatic effect of amylin in rats**. *Metabolism* 1997, **46**(1):67-70.
- 129. Young AA, Gedulin B, Vine W, Percy A, Rink TJ: Gastric emptying is accelerated in diabetic BB rats and is slowed by subcutaneous injections of amylin. *Diabetologia* 1995, **38**(6):642-648.
- 130. Nielsen LL, Young AA, Parkes DG: **Pharmacology of exenatide (synthetic exendin-4): a potential therapeutic for improved glycemic control of type 2 diabetes**. *Regul Pept* 2004, **117**(2):77-88.
- Buse MG, Robinson KA, Marshall BA, Hresko RC, Mueckler MM: Enhanced O-GlcNAc protein modification is associated with insulin resistance in GLUT1-overexpressing muscles. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2002, 283(2):E241-250.
- 132. Degn KB, Brock B, Juhl CB, Djurhuus CB, Grubert J, Kim D, Han J, Taylor K, Fineman M, Schmitz O: Effect of intravenous infusion of exenatide (synthetic exendin-4) on glucose-dependent insulin secretion and counterregulation during hypoglycemia. *Diabetes* 2004, 53(9):2397-2403.
- 133. DeFronzo RA, Bergenstal RM, Cefalu WT, Pullman J, Lerman S, Bode BW, Phillips LS: Efficacy of inhaled insulin in patients with type 2 diabetes not controlled with diet and exercise: a 12-week, randomized, comparative trial. *Diabetes Care* 2005, 28(8):1922-1928.
- 134. Yumuk VD: Targeting components of the stress system as potential therapies for the metabolic syndrome: the peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptors. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2006, **1083**:306-318.
- 135. Staels B, Fruchart JC: **Therapeutic roles of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor agonists**. *Diabetes* 2005, **54**(8):2460-2470.

- 136. Blanquart C, Barbier O, Fruchart JC, Staels B, Glineur C: **Peroxisome** proliferator-activated receptors: regulation of transcriptional activities and roles in inflammation. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 2003, **85**(2-5):267-273.
- 137. Desvergne B, Wahli W: Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: nuclear control of metabolism. *Endocr Rev* 1999, **20**(5):649-688.
- 138. Puddu P, Puddu GM, Muscari A: **Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: are they involved in atherosclerosis progression?** *Int J Cardiol* 2003, **90**(2-3):133-140.
- 139. Gani OA: Are fish oil omega-3 long-chain fatty acids and their derivatives peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor agonists? *Cardiovasc Diabetol* 2008, **7**:6.
- 140. Giaginis C, Tsourouflis G, Theocharis S: **Peroxisome proliferator-activated** receptor-gamma (**PPAR-gamma**) ligands: novel pharmacological agents in the treatment of ischemia reperfusion injury. *Curr Mol Med* 2008, **8**(6):562-579.
- 141. Neve BP, Fruchart JC, Staels B: **Role of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR) in atherosclerosis**. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2000, **60**(8):1245-1250.
- 142. Gupta RA, Tan J, Krause WF, Geraci MW, Willson TM, Dey SK, DuBois RN: Prostacyclin-mediated activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta in colorectal cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2000, 97(24):13275-13280.
- 143. Yki-Jarvinen H: Thiazolidinediones. N Engl J Med 2004, 351(11):1106-1118.
- 144. Luquet S, Gaudel C, Holst D, Lopez-Soriano J, Jehl-Pietri C, Fredenrich A, Grimaldi PA: Roles of PPAR delta in lipid absorption and metabolism: a new target for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2005, 1740(2):313-317.
- 145. Youssef J, Badr M: Role of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors in Inflammation Control. *J Biomed Biotechnol* 2004, **2004**(3):156-166.
- 146. Taylor BK, Dadia N, Yang CB, Krishnan S, Badr M: **Peroxisome proliferator**activated receptor agonists inhibit inflammatory edema and hyperalgesia. *Inflammation* 2002, **26**(3):121-127.
- 147. Lee CH, Olson P, Evans RM: Minireview: lipid metabolism, metabolic diseases, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. *Endocrinology* 2003, **144**(6):2201-2207.
- 148. Aoyama T, Peters JM, Iritani N, Nakajima T, Furihata K, Hashimoto T, Gonzalez FJ: Altered constitutive expression of fatty acid-metabolizing enzymes in mice lacking the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPARalpha). J Biol Chem 1998, 273(10):5678-5684.
- 149. Peters JM, Hennuyer N, Staels B, Fruchart JC, Fievet C, Gonzalez FJ, Auwerx J: Alterations in lipoprotein metabolism in peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha-deficient mice. *J Biol Chem* 1997, **272**(43):27307-27312.
- 150. Guerre-Millo M, Rouault C, Poulain P, Andre J, Poitout V, Peters JM, Gonzalez FJ, Fruchart JC, Reach G, Staels B: **PPAR-alpha-null mice are protected from high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance**. *Diabetes* 2001, **50**(12):2809-2814.

- 151. Bays H, Mandarino L, DeFronzo RA: Role of the adipocyte, free fatty acids, and ectopic fat in pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus: peroxisomal proliferator-activated receptor agonists provide a rational therapeutic approach. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004, **89**(2):463-478.
- 152. Rangwala SM, Lazar MA: **Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma** in diabetes and metabolism. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 2004, **25**(6):331-336.
- 153. Savage DB, Tan GD, Acerini CL, Jebb SA, Agostini M, Gurnell M, Williams RL, Umpleby AM, Thomas EL, Bell JD *et al*: **Human metabolic syndrome resulting** from dominant-negative mutations in the nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma. *Diabetes* 2003, **52**(4):910-917.
- 154. Salway JG: Metabolism at a Glance, Third Edition. 2004.
- 155. Seo YS, Kim JH, Jo NY, Choi KM, Baik SH, Park JJ, Kim JS, Byun KS, Bak YT, Lee CH *et al*: **PPAR agonists treatment is effective in a nonalcoholic fatty liver disease animal model by modulating fatty-acid metabolic enzymes**. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2008, **23**(1):102-109.
- 156. Zizola CF, Schwartz GJ, Vogel S: Cellular retinol-binding protein type III is a PPARgamma target gene and plays a role in lipid metabolism. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2008, **295**(6):E1358-1368.
- 157. Ahima RS, Osei SY: Adipokines in obesity. Front Horm Res 2008, 36:182-197.
- 158. Thorp JM, Waring WS: Modification of metabolism and distribution of lipids by ethyl chlorophenoxyisobutyrate. *Nature* 1962, **194**:948-949.
- 159. Koutroumpi M, Pitsavos C, Stefanadis C: **The role of exercise in cardiovascular rehabilitation: a review**. *Acta Cardiol* 2008, **63**(1):73-79.
- 160. Chapman MJ: Pharmacology of fenofibrate. *Am J Med* 1987, **83**(5B):21-25.
- 161. Caldwell J: The biochemical pharmacology of fenofibrate. *Cardiology* 1989, 76 Suppl 1:33-41; discussion 41-34.
- 162. Terra SG, Francone OL, Contant CF, Gao X, Lewin AJ, Nguyen TT: Efficacy and safety of a potent and selective peroxisome proliferator activated receptor alpha agonist in subjects with dyslipidemia and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am J Cardiol* 2008, **102**(4):434-439.
- 163. Jacob SS, Jacob S, Williams C, Deeg MA: **Simvastatin, fenofibrate, and rhabdomyolysis**. *Diabetes Care* 2005, **28**(5):1258.
- 164. Fruchart JC, Staels B, Duriez P: **The role of fibric acids in atherosclerosis**. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* 2001, **3**(1):83-92.
- 165. Avogaro P, Bittolo Bon G, Belussi F, Pontoglio E, Cazzolato G: Variations in lipids and proteins of lipoproteins by fenofibrate in some hyperlipoproteinaemic states. *Atherosclerosis* 1983, **47**(1):95-100.
- 166. Drouin P, Mejean L, Lambert D, Sauvanet JP, Debry G: [Effect of procetofen on the lipoprotein profile in patients with type II hyperlipoproteinemia]. Med Welt 1979, 30(50):1910-1913.
- 167. Sommariva D, Bonfiglioli D, Pogliaghi I, Cabrini E, Fasoli A: Long-term effects of fenofibrate on serum lipids and on lipoprotein cholesterol in type II hyperlipoproteinemic patients. *Pharmacol Res Commun* 1984, **16**(8):809-820.
- 168. Weisweiler P, Merk W, Janetschek P, Schwandt P: Effect of fenofibrate on serum lipoproteins in subjects with familial hypercholesterolemia and combined hyperlipidemia. *Atherosclerosis* 1984, **53**(3):321-325.

- 169. Schneider A, Stange EF, Ditschuneit HH, Ditschuneit H: Fenofibrate treatment inhibits HMG-CoA reductase activity in mononuclear cells from hyperlipoproteinemic patients. *Atherosclerosis* 1985, **56**(3):257-262.
- 170. Brown WV: Focus on fenofibrate. Hosp Pract (Off Ed) 1988, 23 Suppl 1:31-40.
- 171. Canner PL, Berge KG, Wenger NK, Stamler J, Friedman L, Prineas RJ, Friedewald W: Fifteen year mortality in Coronary Drug Project patients: long-term benefit with niacin. J Am Coll Cardiol 1986, 8(6):1245-1255.
- 172. Tesone PA, Gladstein J, Acuna AM: Comparative study of bezafibrate and fenofibrate in patients with primary hyperlipoproteinaemia. *Curr Med Res Opin* 1985, **9**(9):650-657.
- 173. Hunninghake DB, Peters JR: Effect of fibric acid derivatives on blood lipid and lipoprotein levels. *Am J Med* 1987, **83**(5B):44-49.
- 174. Heller FR, Desager JP, Harvengt C: **Plasma lipid concentrations and lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase activity in normolipidemic subjects given fenofibrate and colestipol**. *Metabolism* 1981, **30**(1):67-71.
- 175. Rodney G, Uhlendorf P, Maxwell RE: **The hypolipidaemic effect of gemfibrozil** (CI-719) in laboratory animals. *Proc R Soc Med* 1976, **69 Suppl 2**:6-10.
- 176. Xie W, Wang W, Su H, Xing D, Cai G, Du L: **Hypolipidemic mechanisms of Ananas comosus L. leaves in mice: different from fibrates but similar to statins**. *J Pharmacol Sci* 2007, **103**(3):267-274.
- 177. Balfour JA, McTavish D, Heel RC: Fenofibrate. A review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties and therapeutic use in dyslipidaemia. *Drugs* 1990, **40**(2):260-290.
- 178. Smith Kline Beecham Pharmaceuticals: 2001.
- 179. Young PW, Buckle DR, Cantello BC, Chapman H, Clapham JC, Coyle PJ, Haigh D, Hindley RM, Holder JC, Kallender H *et al*: Identification of high-affinity binding sites for the insulin sensitizer rosiglitazone (BRL-49653) in rodent and human adipocytes using a radioiodinated ligand for peroxisomal proliferator-activated receptor gamma. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1998, 284(2):751-759.
- 180. Tontonoz P, Graves RA, Budavari AI, Erdjument-Bromage H, Lui M, Hu E, Tempst P, Spiegelman BM: Adipocyte-specific transcription factor ARF6 is a heterodimeric complex of two nuclear hormone receptors, PPAR gamma and RXR alpha. Nucleic Acids Res 1994, 22(25):5628-5634.
- 181. Spiegelman BM: **PPAR-gamma: adipogenic regulator and thiazolidinedione** receptor. *Diabetes* 1998, **47**(4):507-514.
- 182. Saltiel AR, Olefsky JM: **Thiazolidinediones in the treatment of insulin resistance and type II diabetes**. *Diabetes* 1996, **45**(12):1661-1669.
- 183. Rosenbaum SE, Greenberg AS: The short- and long-term effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and BRL 49653 on peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)gamma2 gene expression and other adipocyte genes. *Mol Endocrinol* 1998, 12(8):1150-1160.
- 184. Lefebvre AM, Peinado-Onsurbe J, Leitersdorf I, Briggs MR, Paterniti JR, Fruchart JC, Fievet C, Auwerx J, Staels B: Regulation of lipoprotein metabolism by thiazolidinediones occurs through a distinct but

complementary mechanism relative to fibrates. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 1997, **17**(9):1756-1764.

- 185. Pearson TA, Kris-Etherton PM: Effects of diets containing high or low amounts of stearic acid on plasma lipoprotein fractions and fecal fatty acid excretion of men. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1996, **63**(3):400-402.
- Kallen CB, Lazar MA: Antidiabetic thiazolidinediones inhibit leptin (ob) gene expression in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996, 93(12):5793-5796.
- 187. Hallsten K, Virtanen KA, Lonnqvist F, Sipila H, Oksanen A, Viljanen T, Ronnemaa T, Viikari J, Knuuti J, Nuutila P: Rosiglitazone but not metformin enhances insulin- and exercise-stimulated skeletal muscle glucose uptake in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2002, 51(12):3479-3485.
- 188. Reginato MJ, Lazar MA: Mechanisms by which Thiazolidinediones Enhance Insulin Action. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 1999, **10**(1):9-13.
- 189. Souza SC, Yamamoto MT, Franciosa MD, Lien P, Greenberg AS: BRL 49653 blocks the lipolytic actions of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: a potential new insulin-sensitizing mechanism for thiazolidinediones. *Diabetes* 1998, 47(4):691-695.
- 190. Miyazaki Y, DeFronzo RA: Rosiglitazone and pioglitazone similarly improve insulin sensitivity and secretion, glucose tolerance and adipocytokines in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Obes Metab* 2008, **10**(12):1204-1211.
- 191. Fonseca V, Rosenstock J, Patwardhan R, Salzman A: Effect of metformin and rosiglitazone combination therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2000, **283**(13):1695-1702.
- 192. Khan MN, Nizami SS, Khan MA, Ahmed Z: New saponins from Mangifera indica. *J Nat Prod* 1993, **56**(5):767-770.
- 193. Oumarou H, Ejoh R, Ndjouenkeu R, Tanya A: Nutrient content of complementary foods based on processed and fermented sorghum, groundnut, spinach, and mango. *Food Nutr Bull* 2005, **26**(4):385-392.
- 194. Pino JA, Mesa J, Munoz Y, Marti MP, Marbot R: Volatile components from mango (Mangifera indica L.) cultivars. *J Agric Food Chem* 2005, **53**(6):2213-2223.
- 195. Frylinck L, Dubery IA: **Protein kinase activities in ripening mango, Mangifera indica L., fruit tissue. III. Purification and characterisation of a calciumregulated protein kinase**. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1998, **1387**(1-2):342-354.
- 196. U.S. Department of Agriculture ARS: USDA National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference, Release 18.. 2005.
- 197. Prasad S, Kalra N, Shukla Y: **Hepatoprotective effects of lupeol and mango pulp extract of carcinogen induced alteration in Swiss albino mice**. *Mol Nutr Food Res* 2007, **51**(3):352-359.
- 198. Prasad S, Kalra N, Singh M, Shukla Y: **Protective effects of lupeol and mango** extract against androgen induced oxidative stress in Swiss albino mice. *Asian J Androl* 2008, **10**(2):313-318.
- 199. Knodler M, Conrad J, Wenzig EM, Bauer R, Lacorn M, Beifuss U, Carle R, Schieber A: Anti-inflammatory 5-(11'Z-heptadecenyl)- and 5-(8'Z,11'Z-

heptadecadienyl)-resorcinols from mango (Mangifera indica L.) peels. *Phytochemistry* 2008, **69**(4):988-993.

- 200. Nkuo-Akenji T, Ndip R, McThomas A, Fru EC: Anti-Salmonella activity of medicinal plants from Cameroon. *Cent Afr J Med* 2001, **47**(6):155-158.
- 201. Sairam K, Hemalatha S, Kumar A, Srinivasan T, Ganesh J, Shankar M, Venkataraman S: **Evaluation of anti-diarrhoeal activity in seed extracts of Mangifera indica**. *J Ethnopharmacol* 2003, **84**(1):11-15.
- 202. Sahu S, Das BK, Pradhan J, Mohapatra BC, Mishra BK, Sarangi N: Effect of Mangifera indica kernel as a feed additive on immunity and resistance to Aeromonas hydrophila in Labeo rohita fingerlings. *Fish Shellfish Immunol* 2007, 23(1):109-118.
- 203. Berardini N, Carle R, Schieber A: Characterization of gallotannins and benzophenone derivatives from mango (Mangifera indica L. cv. 'Tommy Atkins') peels, pulp and kernels by high-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* 2004, **18**(19):2208-2216.
- 204. Nunez YP, Carrascosa AV, Gonzalez R, Polo MC, Martinez-Rodriguez A: Isolation and characterization of a thermally extracted yeast cell wall fraction potentially useful for improving the foaming properties of sparkling wines. J Agric Food Chem 2006, 54(20):7898-7903.
- 205. Center of Pharmaceutical Chemistry: Vimang. 1998.
- 206. Aderibigbe AO, Emudianughe TS, Lawal BA: **Evaluation of the antidiabetic** action of Mangifera indica in mice. *Phytother Res* 2001, **15**(5):456-458.
- 207. Muruganandan S, Srinivasan K, Gupta S, Gupta PK, Lal J: Effect of mangiferin on hyperglycemia and atherogenicity in streptozotocin diabetic rats. *J Ethnopharmacol* 2005, **97**(3):497-501.
- 208. Prashanth D, Amit A, Samiulla DS, Asha MK, Padmaja R: **alpha-Glucosidase inhibitory activity of Mangifera indica bark**. *Fitoterapia* 2001, **72**(6):686-688.
- 209. Garrido G, Gonzalez D, Delporte C, Backhouse N, Quintero G, Nunez-Selles AJ, Morales MA: Analgesic and anti-inflammatory effects of Mangifera indica L. extract (Vimang). *Phytother Res* 2001, **15**(1):18-21.
- 210. Garrido G, Gonzalez D, Lemus Y, Garcia D, Lodeiro L, Quintero G, Delporte C, Nunez-Selles AJ, Delgado R: In vivo and in vitro anti-inflammatory activity of Mangifera indica L. extract (VIMANG). *Pharmacol Res* 2004, **50**(2):143-149.
- 211. Garcia D, Leiro J, Delgado R, Sanmartin ML, Ubeira FM: Mangifera indica L. extract (Vimang) and mangiferin modulate mouse humoral immune responses. *Phytother Res* 2003, **17**(10):1182-1187.
- 212. Beltran AE, Alvarez Y, Xavier FE, Hernanz R, Rodriguez J, Nunez AJ, Alonso MJ, Salaices M: Vascular effects of the Mangifera indica L. extract (Vimang). *Eur J Pharmacol* 2004, **499**(3):297-305.
- 213. Sa-Nunes A, Rogerio AP, Medeiros AI, Fabris VE, Andreu GP, Rivera DG, Delgado R, Faccioli LH: Modulation of eosinophil generation and migration by Mangifera indica L. extract (Vimang). Int Immunopharmacol 2006, 6(9):1515-1523.

- 214. Hernandez P, Rodriguez PC, Delgado R, Walczak H: **Protective effect of Mangifera indica L. polyphenols on human T lymphocytes against activation-induced cell death**. *Pharmacol Res* 2007, **55**(2):167-173.
- 215. Martinez G, Giuliani A, Leon OS, Perez G, Nunez Selles AJ: Effect of Mangifera indica L. extract (QF808) on protein and hepatic microsome peroxidation. *Phytother Res* 2001, **15**(7):581-585.
- 216. Hernandez P, Delgado R, Walczak H: Mangifera indica L. extract protects T cells from activation-induced cell death. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2006, 6(9):1496-1505.
- 217. Rodriguez J, Di Pierro D, Gioia M, Monaco S, Delgado R, Coletta M, Marini S: Effects of a natural extract from Mangifera indica L, and its active compound, mangiferin, on energy state and lipid peroxidation of red blood cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2006, **1760**(9):1333-1342.
- 218. Pardo-Andreu GL, Philip SJ, Riano A, Sanchez C, Viada C, Nunez-Selles AJ, Delgado R: Mangifera indica L. (Vimang) protection against serum oxidative stress in elderly humans. *Arch Med Res* 2006, **37**(1):158-164.
- 219. Andreu GP, Delgado R, Velho JA, Curti C, Vercesi AE: **Iron complexing** activity of mangiferin, a naturally occurring glucosylxanthone, inhibits mitochondrial lipid peroxidation induced by Fe2+-citrate. *Eur J Pharmacol* 2005, **513**(1-2):47-55.
- 220. Sanchez GM, Rodriguez HM, Giuliani A, Nunez Selles AJ, Rodriguez NP, Leon Fernandez OS, Re L: **Protective effect of Mangifera indica L. extract** (Vimang) on the injury associated with hepatic ischaemia reperfusion. *Phytother Res* 2003, **17**(3):197-201.
- 221. Remirez D, Tafazoli S, Delgado R, Harandi AA, O'Brien PJ: **Preventing** hepatocyte oxidative stress cytotoxicity with Mangifera indica L. extract (Vimang). *Drug Metabol Drug Interact* 2005, **21**(1):19-29.
- 222. Prabhu S, Jainu M, Sabitha KE, Devi CS: Role of mangiferin on biochemical alterations and antioxidant status in isoproterenol-induced myocardial infarction in rats. *J Ethnopharmacol* 2006, **107**(1):126-133.
- 223. Pardo-Andreu GL, Paim BA, Castilho RF, Velho JA, Delgado R, Vercesi AE, Oliveira HC: Mangifera indica L. extract (Vimang) and its main polyphenol mangiferin prevent mitochondrial oxidative stress in atherosclerosis-prone hypercholesterolemic mouse. *Pharmacol Res* 2008, **57**(5):332-338.
- 224. Garrido G, Blanco-Molina M, Sancho R, Macho A, Delgado R, Munoz E: An aqueous stem bark extract of Mangifera indica (Vimang) inhibits T cell proliferation and TNF-induced activation of nuclear transcription factor NFkappaB. *Phytother Res* 2005, **19**(3):211-215.
- 225. Pardo-Andreu GL, Dorta DJ, Delgado R, Cavalheiro RA, Santos AC, Vercesi AE, Curti C: Vimang (Mangifera indica L. extract) induces permeability transition in isolated mitochondria, closely reproducing the effect of mangiferin, Vimang's main component. *Chem Biol Interact* 2006, **159**(2):141-148.
- 226. Garcia D, Escalante M, Delgado R, Ubeira FM, Leiro J: Anthelminthic and antiallergic activities of Mangifera indica L. stem bark components Vimang and mangiferin. *Phytother Res* 2003, **17**(10):1203-1208.

- 227. Rivera DG, Balmaseda IH, Leon AA, Hernandez BC, Montiel LM, Garrido GG, Cuzzocrea S, Hernandez RD: Anti-allergic properties of Mangifera indica L. extract (Vimang) and contribution of its glucosylxanthone mangiferin. *J Pharm Pharmacol* 2006, **58**(3):385-392.
- 228. Jagetia GC, Baliga MS: Radioprotection by mangiferin in DBAxC57BL mice: a preliminary study. *Phytomedicine* 2005, **12**(3):209-215.
- 229. Rodeiro I, Donato MT, Jimenez N, Garrido G, Delgado R, Gomez-Lechon MJ: Effects of Mangifera indica L. aqueous extract (Vimang) on primary culture of rat hepatocytes. *Food Chem Toxicol* 2007, **45**(12):2506-2512.
- 230. Rodeiro I, Donato MT, Lahoz A, Gonzalez-Lavaut JA, Laguna A, Castell JV, Delgado R, Gomez-Lechon MJ: Modulation of P450 enzymes by Cuban natural products rich in polyphenolic compounds in rat hepatocytes. Chem Biol Interact 2008, 172(1):1-10.
- 231. Carvalho AC, Guedes MM, de Souza AL, Trevisan MT, Lima AF, Santos FA, Rao VS: **Gastroprotective effect of mangiferin, a xanthonoid from Mangifera indica, against gastric injury induced by ethanol and indomethacin in rodents**. *Planta Med* 2007, **73**(13):1372-1376.
- 232. Wilkinson AS, Monteith GR, Shaw PN, Lin CN, Gidley MJ, Roberts-Thomson SJ: Effects of the mango components mangiferin and quercetin and the putative mangiferin metabolite norathyriol on the transactivation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor isoforms. *J Agric Food Chem* 2008, **56**(9):3037-3042.
- 233. Pardo-Andreu GL, Barrios MF, Curti C, Hernandez I, Merino N, Lemus Y, Martinez I, Riano A, Delgado R: Protective effects of Mangifera indica L extract (Vimang), and its major component mangiferin, on iron-induced oxidative damage to rat serum and liver. *Pharmacol Res* 2008, 57(1):79-86.
- 234. Agbonon A, Eklu-Gadegbeku K, Aklikokou K, Essien K, Akpagana K, Gbeassor M: The effect of Mangifera indica stem bark and Pluchea ovalis roots on tracheal smooth muscle in vitro. *Fitoterapia* 2002, **73**(7-8):619-622.
- 235. Reeves PG: Components of the AIN-93 diets as improvements in the AIN-76A diet. *J Nutr* 1997, **127**(5 Suppl):838S-841S.
- 236. Molnar J, Yu S, Mzhavia N, Pau C, Chereshnev I, Dansky HM: **Diabetes induces** endothelial dysfunction but does not increase neointimal formation in highfat diet fed C57BL/6J mice. *Circ Res* 2005, 96(11):1178-1184.
- 237. Yavuz DG, Tuglular S, Kocak H, Atakan A, Ozener C, Akoglu E, Akalin S: Angiotension converting enzyme inhibition and calcium channel blockage improves cyclosporine induced glucose intolerance in rats. *Transplant Proc* 2004, **36**(1):171-174.
- 238. Chechi K, Cheema SK: Maternal diet rich in saturated fats has deleterious effects on plasma lipids of mice. *Exp Clin Cardiol* 2006, **11**(2):129-135.
- 239. Parks EJ, Schneider TL, Baar RA: Meal-feeding studies in mice: effects of diet on blood lipids and energy expenditure. *Comp Med* 2005, **55**(1):24-29.
- 240. Koh EH, Kim MS, Park JY, Kim HS, Youn JY, Park HS, Youn JH, Lee KU: Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)-alpha activation prevents diabetes in OLETF rats: comparison with PPAR-gamma activation. Diabetes 2003, 52(9):2331-2337.

- 241. Mancini FP, Lanni A, Sabatino L, Moreno M, Giannino A, Contaldo F, Colantuoni V, Goglia F: Fenofibrate prevents and reduces body weight gain and adiposity in diet-induced obese rats. *FEBS Lett* 2001, **491**(1-2):154-158.
- 242. Nagai Y, Nishio Y, Nakamura T, Maegawa H, Kikkawa R, Kashiwagi A: **Amelioration of high fructose-induced metabolic derangements by activation of PPARalpha**. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2002, **282**(5):E1180-1190.
- 243. Nakamura T, Funahashi T, Yamashita S, Nishida M, Nishida Y, Takahashi M, Hotta K, Kuriyama H, Kihara S, Ohuchi N *et al*: **Thiazolidinedione derivative improves fat distribution and multiple risk factors in subjects with visceral fat accumulation--double-blind placebo-controlled trial**. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 2001, **54**(3):181-190.
- 244. Spiegelman BM, Flier JS: Adipogenesis and obesity: rounding out the big picture. *Cell* 1996, **87**(3):377-389.
- 245. Boord JB, Maeda K, Makowski L, Babaev VR, Fazio S, Linton MF, Hotamisligil GS: Adipocyte fatty acid-binding protein, aP2, alters late atherosclerotic lesion formation in severe hypercholesterolemia. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2002, 22(10):1686-1691.
- 246. Makowski L, Hotamisligil GS: **Fatty acid binding proteins--the evolutionary crossroads of inflammatory and metabolic responses**. *J Nutr* 2004, **134**(9):2464S-2468S.
- 247. Gregoire FM, Smas CM, Sul HS: Understanding adipocyte differentiation. *Physiol Rev* 1998, **78**(3):783-809.
- 248. Kuda O, Jelenik T, Jilkova Z, Flachs P, Rossmeisl M, Hensler M, Kazdova L, Ogston N, Baranowski M, Gorski J *et al*: **n-3 fatty acids and rosiglitazone improve insulin sensitivity through additive stimulatory effects on muscle glycogen synthesis in mice fed a high-fat diet**. *Diabetologia* 2009, **52**(5):941-951.
- 249. Tsuchida A, Yamauchi T, Takekawa S, Hada Y, Ito Y, Maki T, Kadowaki T: Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)alpha activation increases adiponectin receptors and reduces obesity-related inflammation in adipose tissue: comparison of activation of PPARalpha, PPARgamma, and their combination. *Diabetes* 2005, 54(12):3358-3370.
- 250. Wilson-Fritch L, Nicoloro S, Chouinard M, Lazar MA, Chui PC, Leszyk J, Straubhaar J, Czech MP, Corvera S: **Mitochondrial remodeling in adipose tissue associated with obesity and treatment with rosiglitazone**. *J Clin Invest* 2004, **114**(9):1281-1289.
- 251. Stejskal D, Karpisek M: Adipocyte fatty acid binding protein in a Caucasian population: a new marker of metabolic syndrome? *Eur J Clin Invest* 2006, **36**(9):621-625.
- 252. Xu A, Wang Y, Xu JY, Stejskal D, Tam S, Zhang J, Wat NM, Wong WK, Lam KS: Adipocyte fatty acid-binding protein is a plasma biomarker closely associated with obesity and metabolic syndrome. *Clin Chem* 2006, **52**(3):405-413.
- 253. Hotamisligil GS, Johnson RS, Distel RJ, Ellis R, Papaioannou VE, Spiegelman BM: **Uncoupling of obesity from insulin resistance through a targeted**

mutation in aP2, the adipocyte fatty acid binding protein. *Science* 1996, **274**(5291):1377-1379.

- 254. Gonzalez FJ, Peters JM, Cattley RC: Mechanism of action of the nongenotoxic peroxisome proliferators: role of the peroxisome proliferator-activator receptor alpha. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1998, **90**(22):1702-1709.
- 255. Reddy JK, Chu R: **Peroxisome proliferator-induced pleiotropic responses: pursuit of a phenomenon**. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1996, **804**:176-201.
- 256. Green S, Wahli W: **Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: finding the orphan a home**. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 1994, **100**(1-2):149-153.
- 257. Dixit VP, Sinha R, Tank R: Effect of Neem seed oil on the blood glucose concentration of normal and alloxan diabetic rats. *J Ethnopharmacol* 1986, **17**(1):95-98.
- 258. Aderibigbe AO, Emudianughe TS, Lawal BA: Antihyperglycaemic effect of Mangifera indica in rat. *Phytother Res* 1999, **13**(6):504-507.
- 259. Takahashi T, Karita S, Ogawa N, Goto M: Crystalline cellulose reduces plasma glucose concentrations and stimulates water absorption by increasing the digesta viscosity in rats. *J Nutr* 2005, **135**(10):2405-2410.
- 260. Fairchild RM, Ellis PR, Byrne AJ, Luzio SD, Mir MA: **A new breakfast cereal** containing guar gum reduces postprandial plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in normal-weight human subjects. *Br J Nutr* 1996, **76**(1):63-73.
- 261. Hannan JM, Rokeya B, Faruque O, Nahar N, Mosihuzzaman M, Azad Khan AK, Ali L: Effect of soluble dietary fibre fraction of Trigonella foenum graecum on glycemic, insulinemic, lipidemic and platelet aggregation status of Type 2 diabetic model rats. *J Ethnopharmacol* 2003, **88**(1):73-77.
- 262. Jenkins DJ, Wesson V, Wolever TM, Jenkins AL, Kalmusky J, Guidici S, Csima A, Josse RG, Wong GS: Wholemeal versus wholegrain breads: proportion of whole or cracked grain and the glycaemic response. *BMJ* 1988, 297(6654):958-960.
- 263. Pickup JC: Inflammation and activated innate immunity in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2004, **27**(3):813-823.
- 264. Polidori MC, Mecocci P, Stahl W, Parente B, Cecchetti R, Cherubini A, Cao P, Sies H, Senin U: Plasma levels of lipophilic antioxidants in very old patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* 2000, **16**(1):15-19.
- 265. Polidori MC, Stahl W, Eichler O, Niestroj I, Sies H: **Profiles of antioxidants in** human plasma. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2001, **30**(5):456-462.
- 266. Price KD, Price CS, Reynolds RD: **Hyperglycemia-induced ascorbic acid deficiency promotes endothelial dysfunction and the development of atherosclerosis**. *Atherosclerosis* 2001, **158**(1):1-12.
- 267. Valabhji J, McColl AJ, Richmond W, Schachter M, Rubens MB, Elkeles RS: Total antioxidant status and coronary artery calcification in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2001, 24(9):1608-1613.
- 268. Manach C, Mazur A, Scalbert A: **Polyphenols and prevention of** cardiovascular diseases. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 2005, **16**(1):77-84.

APPENDIX

Oklahoma State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC)

Protocol Expires: 7/29/2010

Date : Monday, July 30, 2007 Animal Care and Use Protocol (ACUP) No : HE074

Proposal Title: Mango modulates glucose and lipid parameters in high fat diet-Induced obesity

Principal Investigator:

Edralin Lucas Nutritional Sciences 425 HES Campus

Reviewed and Full Committee Processed as: Approval Status Recommended by Reviewer(s) : Approved

The protocol as revised is approved. You are approved for a total of 150 mice for the next three years.

Signatur

Charlotte Ownby, IACUC Chair

cc: Department Head, Nutritional Sciences Director, Animal Resources Monday, July 30, 2007 Date

Approvals are valid for three calendar years, after which time a request for renewal must be submitted. Any modifications to the research project, course, or testing procedure must be submitted for review and approval by the IACUC, prior to initiating any changes. Modifications do not affect the original approval period. Approved projects are subject to monitoring by the IACUC. OSU is a USDA registered research facility and maintains an Animal Welfare Assurance document with the Public Health Service Office of Laboratory Animal Welfare, Assurance number AA3722-01.

VITA

WENJIA LI

Candidate for the Degree of

Master of Science

Thesis: THE EFFECTS OF MANGO ON GLUCOSE AND LIPID PARAMETERS OF

MICE FED HIGH FAT DIET

Major Field: Nutritional Sciences

Biographical:

- Personal Data: Born in TianJin, P.R.China, on May 29, 1983, the daughter of Li, Zheng and Guo, Jinying.
- Education: Graduted from No. 43 High School, Tianjin, P.R. China in July 1998; received Bachelor of Science degree in Biological Sciences from University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario, Canada in June 2006. Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in your major at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in December, 2009.
- Experience: Employed by Oklahoma State University, Department of Nutritional Sciences as a graduate research assistant; Oklahoma State Department of Nutritional Sciences, 2007-2009.

Name: WENJIA LI

Date of Degree: December, 2009

Institution: Oklahoma State University Loca

Location: OKC or Stillwater, Oklahoma

Title of Study: THE EFFECTS OF MANGO ON GLUCOSE AND LIPID

PARAMETERS OF MICE FED HIGH FAT DIET

Pages in Study: 99

Candidate for the Degree of Master of Science

Major Field: Functional foods and chronic diseases

Scope and Method of Study: Mango is a tropical fruit that contains bioactive compounds that may reduce cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk factors. To our knowledge, limited studies have been conducted to investigate the effect of mango flesh on body composition and glucose and lipid parameters. Therefore, this study compared the effect of mango with known agonist of peroxisome proliferator activated-receptor (PPAR), fenofibrate (PPAR- α agonist) and rosiglitazone (PPAR- γ agonist), in modulating body fat, and plasma glucose and lipid parameters in mice fed high fat diet. Male C57BL6 mice were randomly assigned into one of six treatment groups (n=8/group) for two months: high fat diet (HF), HF + fenofibrate (500 mg/kg diet), HF + rosiglitazone (50 mg/kg), HF + 1% mango, and HF + 10% mango. High fat diet significantly increased adipose tissue weight and 1% mango significantly reduced the weights of adipose tissue similar to normal diet, 10% mango, and fenofibrate and rosiglitazone groups. Mice receiving 1% mango groups had the lowest area under the curve after a glucose tolerance test. The two doses of mango significantly reduced plasma non-esterified fatty acids to the level of normal diet group.

Findings and Conclusions: Supplementation with 1% mango for 8 weeks was the most effective in modulating glucose and lipid levels due to high fat diet. Our findings suggest that incorporation of mango in the diet reduces CVD risk factors in this animal model and warrants further investigation in humans.